Rowan University Rowan Digital Works

Theses and Dissertations

8-26-2024

# The Impact of Social Emotional Learning and Trauma Informed Care on Teacher Well-Being and Capacity in the Classroom.

Kathleen Kelley Michalowski Rowan University

Follow this and additional works at: https://rdw.rowan.edu/etd

Part of the Educational Leadership Commons, and the Teacher Education and Professional Development Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Michalowski, Kathleen Kelley, "The Impact of Social Emotional Learning and Trauma Informed Care on Teacher Well-Being and Capacity in the Classroom." (2024). *Theses and Dissertations*. 3281. https://rdw.rowan.edu/etd/3281

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Rowan Digital Works. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Rowan Digital Works. For more information, please contact graduateresearch@rowan.edu.

### THE IMPACT OF SOCIAL EMOTIONAL LEARNING AND TRAUMA INFORMED CARE ON TEACHER WELL-BEING AND CAPACITY IN THE CLASSROOM.

by

Kathleen Kelley Michalowski

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Department of Educational Leadership, Administration, and Research College of Education In partial fulfillment of the requirement For the degree of Doctor of Education at Rowan University June 27, 2024

Dissertation Chair: Shelley Zion Ph.D., Professor, Department of Educational Leadership, Administration and Research

Committee Members: Kara Ieva, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Wellness & Inclusive Services in Education

Brianne Morettini, Ph.D., Associate Professor and Department Chair, Department of Wellness & Inclusive Services in Education © 2024 Kathleen Kelley Michalowski

#### Dedication

I am deeply thankful to my patient and kind husband, Jeff, and daughters, Meghan and Caitlyn for their unwavering support throughout the completion of this work. I also want to express my gratitude to my father; I am certain that he is watching over me as I strive to become the person he always envisioned. Additionally, I extend my thanks to Dr. Zion and my cohort for their invaluable support in keeping me on track.

#### Abstract

### Kathleen Kelley Michalowski THE IMPACT OF SOCIAL EMOTIONAL LEARNING AND TRAUMA INFORMED CARE ON TEACHER WELL-BEING AND CAPACITY IN THE CLASSROOM 2023-2024 Shelley Zion, Ph.D. Doctorate of Education in Educational Leadership

Educators and students have encountered significant challenges, including illness and loss within their families due to events such as the COVID-19 pandemic. Traumatic events, like disasters, can greatly disrupt a community's functioning, resulting in widespread losses that surpass the community's ability to cope. Trauma-informed care (TIC) acknowledges that individuals are likely to have a history of trauma and aims to respond appropriately to minimize the likelihood of further trauma. By implementing trauma-sensitive routines and promoting social-emotional learning (SEL) for both students and educators, we can offer them more opportunities for success and emotional growth. It's important to recognize that educators' well-being is closely connected to student motivation and achievement, teacher retention, and mental health.

As the economy continues to improve, a potential wave of retiring teachers leaving the profession could occur. Each year, K-12 schools face the challenge of filling over 200,000 vacant teaching positions. By exploring educators' viewpoints on the effects of Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) and Trauma-Informed Care (TIC) on school climate, school leaders can better equip themselves to enhance the school system's capabilities. This research sought to examine the impact of SEL and trauma-informed care on school culture, climate, and teacher retention in the post-pandemic era.

Abstract	iv
List of Tables	ix
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Background of the Problem	1
Social-Emotional Learning as an Answer	4
Educator's Response to Stress	5
Problem Statement	5
Rationale	9
Research Questions	10
Theoretical Framework	10
Definition of Key Terms	11
Chapter 2: Literature Review	16
Teacher Burnout	16
Building Teacher Capacity	19
Improving School Climate Through Professional Development	20
Trauma Informed Care	25
Social Emotional Learning	28
Chapter 3: Methodology	31
Description of the Setting	32
Procedure	34
Data Collection	36
Current Program	37
Analysis	42
Limitations	42
Summary	44
Chapter IV: Results	46
Demographic Summary of Participants	46
Focus Group Discussion	50
Question 1: What Experiences Have You Had Related to Social Emotional Learning and Trauma Informed Care?	51

### **Table of Contents**

# Table of Contents (Continued)

Question 2: How Did the Professional Development Experiences Impact You as a Teacher?
Question 3: How Did the PD Experiences Impact You as a Learner?53
Question 4: What Were the Most Significant Takeaways From the Professional Development?
Question 5: Would You Want to Continue With the Professional Development Experiences, and What Aspects?
Question 6: Is There Value in Teachers Having the Same Experiences?
Question 7: Did the Experiences Have an Impact on Your Personal Life as Well as Your Professional Life?60
Question 8: Do You Have Any Other Questions or Feedback About the Social Emotional Learning and Trauma Informed Care Professional Development?60
Interview Discussion
Question 1: Please Tell Me Why You Got Into Teaching and What Your Proudest Moment Was as a Teacher63
Question 2: Please Tell Me About Your Experience with Social Emotional Learning and Trauma Informed Care64
Question 3: Could You Tell Me How Trauma Impacts Students and Adults?65
Question 4: How Do You Utilize Empathy to Create Positive and Trusting Relationships?67
Question 5: When Upset With a Student, What Techniques Do You Use to Diffuse The Situation?67
Question 6: What is the Connection Between Your Sense of Well-Being and the Educational Experience You Provide Students?
Question 7: What Are the Best Strategies for Encouraging Students to Assert Themselves Constructively?70
Question 8: How Do You Respond When Students Are Not Engaged in Classroom Activities?71
Question 9: How Do Your Personal Preferences/Biases Affect How You Interact With Your Students?72
Question 10: How Did the Professional Development You Attended Help to Make You Feel Supported in the Classroom?73
Question 11: We Have Been Talking About the Students; How Did the Professional Development Experiences Help You Make Decisions in the Classroom?74

# Table of Contents (Continued)

Question 12: How Did the Professional Development and Coaching Help Your Personal Life?
Question 13: Is There Anything Else You Would Like to Add or Discuss?77
Overall Themes
Incident Report Data
Limitations
Chapter V: Discussion, Conclusions and Recommendations
Rationale
Research Questions
Theoretical Framework
Discussion by Research Question
Do Employees Report That Participating in SEL and TIC Professional Development and Other Support Improves Their Knowledge of These Concepts?
Do Employees Report That Their Dispositions (Empathetic Concern, Perspective Taking, Interpersonal Relationships) and Behaviors Improve Due to Participating in SEL and TIC Professional Development and Support?
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?
Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?

# Table of Contents (Continued)

Appendix F: Reportable Incidents	1
----------------------------------	---

# List of Tables

Table	Page
Table 1. Demographics	48
Table 2. Classroom Incidents	80

#### Chapter 1

#### Introduction

#### **Background of the Problem**

The teaching profession in the United States has an enormous impact on society, molding young minds as members of the community. Over 3.7 million K-12 teachers comprise almost 7% of the college-educated labor force (Newburger & Beckhusen, 2022). Teachers profoundly affect students, shaping their academic, socio-emotional, and life outcomes, as well as contributing to society in a variety of ways (Chetty et al., 2014; Jackson, 2018; Kraft, 2019; Kraft & Lyons, 2022). Despite this impact, many teachers report feeling unhappy, burned out, and frustrated with the state of education (Laird, 2022; Tillman, 2022; Will, 2022). A survey conducted by Merrimack College and the nonpartisan EdWeek Research Center in 2022, which polled over 1,300 teachers, indicated a decline in work and pay satisfaction among educators. The survey found that in 2011, nearly 77% of teachers felt that their community treated them as professionals, but that number decreased to 46% in 2022 (Tillman, 2022). This trend helped lead to a teacher shortage, as many educators left the profession due to job dissatisfaction and low salaries. The pandemic has exacerbated this problem, resulting in the most significant drop in employment in education in recent years. According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, the number of people employed in public schools fell from almost 8.1 million in March 2020 to 7.3 million in May 2020. According to Tillman (2022), employment has rebounded to 7.7 million, leaving schools with a shortage of around 360,000 positions. The Merrimack survey discovered that just 12% of teachers feel "very satisfied" with their job. This is a significant drop from the previous low of 33% reported

in 1986, per data from the MetLife Survey of the American Teacher. Will (2022) notes that these findings reveal a disheartened and drained workforce.

Furthermore, teachers' job satisfaction is at an all-time low, with only 42% of teachers believing that the stress of their job is worth continuing in the profession, down from 81% in the last 15 years. More than half of teachers stated that they would not recommend a career in teaching to their younger selves. They feel overwhelmed by a constantly increasing workload, particularly with more students requiring greater academic and social-emotional support than ever before (Laird, 2022; Kim et al., 2020).

According to Laird (2022), educators often cite student behavior and school climate as critical reasons for leaving the profession. Managing negative classroom behavior can lead to burnout, frustration, and emotional exhaustion for teachers, as well as lower self-efficacy, enthusiasm, and job satisfaction (Kim et al., 2020). Unfortunately, recent staff shortages have increased teacher workloads and decreased the support they receive. Teachers have reported that students are misbehaving or disengaged in class, possibly due to the pandemic's trauma (Will, 2022). The post-pandemic classroom looks very different from classrooms of the past. Educators have faced numerous challenges upon returning to school after the pandemic. The departure of many teachers has resulted in larger class sizes and increased stress for those who remain (Laird, 2022; Will, 2022).

Additionally, negative student behaviors have taken a toll on teacher morale and made it difficult to find qualified staff willing to work in schools, provide extracurricular support, or assist students with exceptional needs students (Charlton et al., 2021; Will, 2022; Laird, 2022). Unfortunately, this trend of teachers leaving their careers has continued for several years, contributing to the shortage of educators (Vox, 2022).

According to the Merrimack College Teacher Survey, nearly half of the teachers surveyed expressed intentions to leave their current jobs and explore other career paths within the next two years (Will, 2022). The PreK-12 job market has experienced a 9.3% decline since the pandemic began, and as of March 2022, it remains at 4% below prepandemic levels (Vox, 2022). With a record number of resignations, schools are finding it increasingly challenging to attract and retain top talent (Blanchard & Conley, 2022). Teachers seek deeper purpose and meaning in their careers to adapt to the rapid changes brought on by recent events worldwide (Blanchard & Conley, 2022).

The COVID-19 pandemic has also had a profound impact on student's mental health and well-being, which has affected their behavior and relationships with teachers. This has led to lower attendance and engagement in school (Will, 2022). Managing negative behavior in the classroom can be stressful for teachers and lead to emotional exhaustion and low job satisfaction (Evans et al., 2015). Social-emotional learning (SEL) has been proposed as a solution to these problems. Research shows that when teachers are stressed, the quality of their instruction and relationships with students suffer. Positive work environments have been shown to improve student performance. While the structural and classroom processes of SEL quality indicators have been widely studied, the social-emotional capacity of teachers has only recently been recognized as an essential factor in quality instruction and school climate (Evans et al., 2015; Will, 2022).

Social-emotional learning (SEL) has emerged as a promising solution for addressing stress and managing student behavior (Evans et al., 2015; Will, 2022). Studies have shown that when teachers are under stress, it negatively impacts the quality of their instruction, classroom management, and student relationships. Schools that foster positive

work environments have better student outcomes (Will, 2022). While there has been significant research on the structural and classroom processes of SEL quality indicators, the importance of teachers' social-emotional capacity as a critical factor in quality instruction and school climate has only recently been recognized (Buettner et al., 2016).

#### Social-Emotional Learning as an Answer

Several school districts have implemented a solitary social-emotional learning program to equip educators with the necessary skills to address pandemic-induced or childhood-related behavioral issues and foster a positive school culture. With many students returning to school post-pandemic with trauma, teachers must be able to recognize the signs of traumatic stress and cultivate an environment that is conducive to the healing of both affected students and staff (Simonich et al., 2015; NCMW, 2022; Kim et al., 2021). According to recent research, social-emotional learning (SEL) has proven effective in nurturing kindness and reducing negative behaviors among students and educators (Kim et al., 2021). In addition, Trauma-informed care (TIC) and SEL are excellent tools for promoting positive behaviors in schools (NCMW, 2022). Teachers play a crucial role in fostering SEL by building positive relationships with students and gaining specialized knowledge about SEL. Providing training and support to teachers, teacher's aides and other school staff members in SEL could significantly benefit the students they serve (Garcia & Weiss, 2020).

Schools can use various methods to promote positive behavior among students and empower educators to make a meaningful impact in their lives. Integrating SEL and TIC into school curriculums can help teachers better manage stressors and equip students with valuable skills such as emotional regulation, conflict resolution, and empathy (Laird,

2022). In fact, incorporating these techniques into their professional lives may even lead educators to adopt them in their personal lives, reducing burnout and emotional strain (Laird, 2022; Kim et al., 2021).

#### **Educator's Response to Stress**

Research suggests that educators in PreK to twelfth-grade schools experience high levels of emotional exhaustion when compared to other professions (Change, 2013). It is crucial to prioritize educator well-being since it is linked to student motivation, achievement, attrition, and capacity. The interaction between teachers and students is a critical element that can impact students' success and educator capacity (Aldrup et al., 2018; Charlton et al., 2021). Positive aspects of their careers, such as job satisfaction, work enthusiasm, and the absence of negative experiences like emotional exhaustion and stress, contribute to educators' occupational well-being and optimal psychological functioning (Aldrup et al., 2018). Educators and researchers increasingly focus on socialemotional learning and trauma-informed care to create positive school environments and promote equitable learning environments where students can thrive (Charlton et al., 2021). The study will seek to understand how SEL and TIC contribute to educators' wellness and longevity in the profession in the schools within the district being studied.

#### **Problem Statement**

In the wake of the pandemic, numerous educators have chosen to leave the profession. This departure has resulted in larger class sizes and increased stress for the teachers who have opted to remain in the classroom. These dedicated educators have had to adapt to new policies, procedures, and safety protocols aimed at safeguarding their students, all without sufficient time to process the changes or address their pandemic-

related trauma and personal challenges. In response, many school districts have implemented Social Emotional Learning (SEL) programs to assist teachers and support staff in rebuilding connections with their students and fostering their overall well-being (Laird, 2022). SEL and trauma-informed care (TIC) have a proven track record of fostering better learning outcomes, increased happiness, and greater student confidence (Laird, 2022). Students must be surrounded by supportive, engaging adults who model responsible decision-making, empathy, and conflict-resolution skills (Laird, 2022). Managing a classroom, handling parents, and satisfying school administrators can be stressful for educators. As Laird (2022) notes, educators' actions are as necessary as their words; the students are always watching.

Rather than being separate, social and emotional learning (SEL) should be integrated into the school culture for both students and adults. Systematically incorporating SEL into an established curriculum, as Cohen (2023) suggests, is a practical approach. However, SEL can only be beneficial if it is implemented mindfully within the cultural context and trauma-informed care, as Duane et al. (2021) point out. For instance, asking a student to meditate immediately after rushing to class and receiving detention due to transportation delays shows a disconnect between the school culture and the SEL being taught. Unawareness of students' or colleagues' traumas could unintentionally re-traumatize students, increasing disruption and stress, as Phifer and Hull (2016) warn. Studies show that many educators feel unprepared to teach social and emotional skills, with only one in five reporting feeling well-equipped (Duane et al., 2021). This underscores the importance of schools offering more varied professional development opportunities that can impact the entire school community, including

administrators and staff. Educators who possess strong social and emotional skills are better equipped to build positive relationships with students and manage their behavior while maintaining control of their emotions (Duane et al., 2021). It is important to note, however, that implementing these skills without proper cultural context or traumainformed care mindfulness can be problematic and may even lead to further stress and disruption for students. Staff members must be aware of the potential traumas experienced by students and colleagues to avoid retraumatizing students and causing further harm. Overall, offering diverse professional development opportunities focusing on SEL and TIC can positively impact the school's culture and the well-being of educators and students (Laird, 2022).

The impact of student behavior and the public perception of teachers can profoundly affect educators' mental well-being. Unfortunately, these issues may go unaddressed by the administration or peers, leaving teachers without the time or support to address the needs of their students. Responding to negative attitudes and behaviors from students can further exacerbate the situation and cause additional stress for educators in the classroom (Near, 2022). Traumatized students and colleagues are familiar to school employees across the United States (Jaycox et al., 2006; Overstreet & Chafouleas, 2016). Trauma is a deeply personal experience that can stem from a multitude of different events, including child maltreatment, violence at home, substance abuse, isolation, serious illness, car accidents, and natural disasters like floods and fires (Near, 2022). Blaustein (2013) compares trauma to a vicious and complex virus that can impact nutrition, brain development, cognitive function, physical health, and emotional regulation, much like the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. It is essential to recognize that individuals from different cultures, races, religions, abilities, genders, sexualities, economic backgrounds, and natural disasters can all have collective experiences of trauma (Near, 2022). Given the pervasive nature of traumatic experiences, school communities must also acknowledge that their colleagues may have faced childhood or adult trauma, such as violence, crime, natural disasters, or a pandemic (Blaustein, 2013; Will, 2022).

Environmental changes, developing protective factors, and practicing the skills learned to manage stress promote resilience in children and adults (Near, 2022). Social Emotional Learning (SEL) programs can support school climate transformation (Glasser, 2022). Administrators need a complete understanding of the concepts and that one program could only impact a portion of the staff, while multiple programs with diverse delivery could impact everyone. Leaders must manage resistance to change and be part of the solution (Craig, 2016). A school administrator sporadically utilizing concepts without proper accountability and rewards for students could destroy a school climate by encouraging negative behavior and undermining the classroom staff (Glasser, 2022).

Further examples of weaponizing may include forcing students to close their eyes, telling a student in crisis to "breathe," or mandating students utilize their mindfulness while being forced to comply with a potentially oppressive behavior (Duane et al., 2021, p. 45). As far back as 1994 Ladson -Billings defined culturally relevant pedagogy as practices that utilize the students' culture to impact knowledge, skills, and attitude; paired with SEL and trauma-informed care (TIC), it is possible to heal and improve responses to stressors (Duane et al., 2021, NEARS, 2022). Strength-based school improvement, part of the many SEL programs, is an alternative to a negative, deficit approach focused on

fixing what is wrong. Instead, the school community demonstrates to school leaders how to achieve their goals by working together to maximize what is right. Clear, evidencebased strategies organized around the continuum of self-reflection and a feedbackfocused model with coaching and supervision centered on identifying and nurturing teachers' strengths and helping teachers reach new levels of professional success and satisfaction (Hall & Simereal, 2008).

Suppose educators are constantly faced with behaviors that are not addressed and contribute to stressful environments. In that case, they will continue to leave the profession, activating the flight response to stress and an unhealthy environment. Teachers are leaving the profession because they need to feel adequate to address students' needs and handle overwhelming situations. Providing multiple models that address not only the student trauma but also their trauma could encourage educators to remain in the profession and incorporate intellectual safety where students know their educators accept and affirm their culture and practices (Duane et al., 2021; Vox, 2022; SAMSHA, 2023). This study will seek to understand how SEL and TIC contribute to educators' wellness and longevity in the profession in the schools within the district being studied.

#### Rationale

There is a need for more literature on the impact of social-emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC) on educator resilience and teacher retention. Most studies assess student perceptions of teacher interpersonal behaviors and their impact on relationships and behavior instead of teacher perceptions and the impact on their wellness, instruction, and likelihood to continue in the profession. By evaluating educator

perceptions regarding the effects of SEL and TIC on the school climate, school leaders can be better equipped to build capacity within the school system.

A thorough literature review is needed to produce a study on the outcomes of SEL or TIC regarding the retention of educators in K-12 school districts. A few studies have touched on the topic, such as Goodwin-Glick's (2017) study on the impact of TIC professional development on the knowledge of school personnel. However, how it changed their attitude and practice still needs to be addressed. Similarly, Baker et al. (2016) conducted a quantitative study to evaluate the attitudes of certified school employees on TIC implementation, but still need to address practice or wellness.

#### **Research Questions**

The study will address the following research questions:

- 1. Do employees report that their knowledge of SEL and TIC concepts improves due to participating in SEL and TIC professional development and support?
- 2. Do employees report that their dispositions (empathetic concern, perspective taking, interpersonal relationships) and behaviors improve due to participating in SEL and TIC professional development and support?
- 3. Do educators perceive that there are significant improvements to their classroom climate due to the professional development experiences with SEL and TIC?
- 4. Do educators perceive TIC and SEL support in the school contribute to teacher retention?

### **Theoretical Framework**

Transformational learning theory and trauma theory provide the theoretical framework for this study. The former can examine educators' critical self-reflection,

leading to a foundational change in their disposition towards teaching and students. The cognitive-rational approach to transformational learning, shared by Mezirow and Freire, asserts that adult education should lead to empowerment. Both perspectives take a constructivist approach to transformational learning. Teachers must persevere when learning new knowledge and skills, especially in the post-pandemic world, facing challenges such as trauma (Mezirow, 1978; Freire Institute, 2024).

Trauma theory recognizes that adverse outcomes are caused by traumatic harm rather than a lack of character or morality. This understanding constitutes a significant step towards educators overcoming former beliefs and establishing positive relationships with traumatized students. The theory acknowledges that trauma can severely damage the normal development of the brain and body, mainly if it occurs during childhood, and is associated with diminished adult mental and physical health. A biopsychosocial understanding of trauma can help individuals recover and become resilient (Mezirow, 1978; Freire Institute, 2024).

#### **Definition of Key Terms**

Adverse Childhood Experience (ACE): Abuse, neglect, dysfunctions in the home, exposure to other traumatic stressors during childhood (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2023)

Advanced Trainer - A Certified SEL Trainer who has completed additional training hours beyond the initial week of training.

At-risk learners- often used to describe students or groups of students who are considered to have a higher probability of failing academically or dropping out of school (Education Reform, 2013).

Bias: The propensity to believe that some viewpoints, people, or things are better than others, a prejudice resulting in oppression or unjust treatment (Merriam-Webster, 2023).
Biopsychosocial: The "biological, psychological, and social aspects in contrast to the 23 strictly biomedical aspects of disease" (Merriam-Webster, 2015).

**CASEL**-The Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL) defined SEL more than two decades ago (<u>CASEL</u>, 2020)

**Certified Trainer** - Refers to any individual who has completed the requirements to become certified as an SEL Trainer. This individual is in active certification status and can conduct SEL training.

**Educator:** Merriam-Webster (2023) defines an educator as school personnel in the field of education, including but not limited to teachers and administrators. For this study, an educator is defined as a classified and certified staff member who may influence a student's education.

**Emotional Intelligence**- means being aware that emotions can drive our behavior and impact people (positively and negatively) and learning how to manage those emotions – both our own and others' – especially when we are under pressure (<u>Goleman</u>,1996),

**Emotional Processes- a** process whereby emotional disturbances are absorbed, and decline to the extent that other experiences and behavior can proceed without disruption" (<u>Rachman</u>, 1980, p. 51).

**Empathy**: The emotional response to another person's emotions and behaviors; how one interprets their emotional response and perspective-taking; and the conscious decision to utilize empathetic behaviors (Gerdes, Lietz, & Segal, 2011).

**Executive functioning is the capability** to control one's behavior and successfully participate in independent, purposeful, and goal-oriented activities. Executive functions include self-awareness, regulation, motivation, and the ability to plan, organize, and purposefully carry out action (Gabowitz et al., 2008).

**Mindfulness**: Mindfulness is a conscious state of mind in which one is calmly observant and accepting of one's thoughts, feelings, and body (Newberg & Waldman, 2012).

Mindset: A person's thinking, attitude, inclination, or opinion (Merriam-Webster, 2023).

**Professional Development** is a continuum of learning and support activities designed to prepare individuals for work and ongoing experiences to enhance this work. These opportunities improve early childhood professionals' knowledge, skills, practices, and dispositions (NAEYC, 2020).

**Relationship Skills-** The ability to establish and maintain healthy and rewarding relationships with diverse individuals and groups. The ability to communicate clearly, listen well, cooperate with others, resist inappropriate social pressure, negotiate conflict constructively, and seek and offer help when needed (<u>CASEL,2020</u>).

**Resiliency**: Resiliency is an individual's capacity to thrive following adversity (Brendtro & Longhurst, 2005).

**Safety**: Safe environments support physical, psychological, social, and moral safety, facilitated by trusting interpersonal relationships (Bloom & Farragher, 2013). **Self-awareness** is the ability to accurately recognize one's emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence behavior. It is the ability to accurately assess one's strengths and limitations with a well-grounded sense of confidence, optimism, and a "growth mindset." In short, self-awareness is the ability to understand oneself (<u>CASEL</u>, 2020).

**Self-efficacy is** defined as people's beliefs about their capabilities to produce designated levels of performance that influence events that affect their lives. Self-efficacy beliefs determine how people feel, think, motivate, and behave. Such beliefs have these diverse effects through four major processes: cognitive, motivational, affective, and selection processes (Bandura, 1994).

**Social Emotional Learning (SEL)**- is the process through which children and adults understand and manage emotions, set and achieve positive goals, feel and show empathy for others, establish and maintain positive relationships, and make responsible decisions (CASEL,2020).

**Social competence**: Social competence is possessing the social, emotional, and intellectual skills and behaviors needed to succeed as a member of society (HOC, 2020).

**Champion Teams:** Include certified trainers, principals and assistant principals, and school staff identified by the principal. The SEL leadership team and the advisory committee support the Champion teams at each site. Each site schedules meetings based on its individual program structure and creates ideas and activities to implement and infuse SEL throughout its school program.

Trauma-Informed Care - Trauma-informed care acknowledges the need to understand a patient's life experiences to deliver effective care. It can improve student engagement, health outcomes, and provider and staff wellness (Hopper, Bassuk, & Olivet, 2010).
Trigger: A trigger is an internal reminder of a traumatic event (e.g., memory or thought) or an external reminder of a traumatic event (e.g., sight, smell, sound, taste, or touch)

(Black, 2015). The tone of voice or specific words used by an adult, the scent of perfume, gestures, gender, or race may trigger an emotional response.

#### Chapter 2

#### **Literature Review**

Recent studies show that a growing number of teachers are feeling unhappy, burned out, and frustrated with the current state of education (Laird, 2022; Tillman, 2022; Will, 2022). As a result, many educators are leaving the profession, contributing to a severe teacher shortage. Several factors contribute to this trend, including job dissatisfaction, low salaries, and an ever-increasing workload, particularly as more students require academic and social-emotional support (Will, 2022). Negative student behavior and an unhealthy school climate are among the leading reasons teachers leave their jobs (Laird, 2022). Classroom management, in particular, is a significant source of stress, leading to burnout, low morale, and job dissatisfaction (Kim et al., 2020).

The post-pandemic classroom looks very different, and many educators struggle and need help to adapt. Returning to school after the pandemic has been challenging for many reasons, leading to a mass exodus of teachers. This has resulted in larger class sizes and more stress for those still working with students. The negative behavior of students is also contributing to the mental health of teachers, making it increasingly difficult to find qualified teaching staff willing to work with students with exceptional needs or stay for extracurricular activities and tutoring (Charlton et al., 2021; Will, 2022; Laird, 2022).

#### **Teacher Burnout**

Many school districts have adopted a single social-emotional learning (SEL) program to provide professional development to teachers in accordance with the 2015 Federal Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA). This act mandates the inclusion of socialemotional learning in the curriculum. The goal of the single programs is often to address

the negative behavior resulting from trauma experienced by students during the pandemic or in their childhood and to improve the school climate (SAMSHA, 2023). Many students returned to school traumatized when schools reopened. Social Emotional Learning (SEL) has been the solution to teach students and educators to treat each other kindly and reduce negative behaviors (Kim et al., 2021). Trauma-informed care (TIC) and social-emotional learning (SEL) can provide an excellent introduction to positive behaviors for students and teachers (NCMW, 2022). Teachers can contribute to students' social and emotional learning through their positive relationships with students and their specialized knowledge about SEL. Improving training and support for teachers, teacher's aides and other school staff members in SEL is critical to helping students succeed (Garcia & Weiss, 2020).

Multiple approaches to TIC, SEL, and a positive climate change in schools could contribute to a school environment that promotes favorable behavior for students and helps build capacity with educators to make a difference in students' lives. The following literature review explores teacher burnout, educators leaving the classroom, student behavior, school climate, and how social-emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC) impact schools. The study aims to situate the role of TIC and SEL in promoting positive behavior and building the capacity of educators to make a difference in students' lives.

According to NCSS (2022), educators' reactions to various attitudes and behaviors exhibited by students, such as poor academic performance, public reprimands, or outright ignoring, can exacerbate student reactions, leading to more stress for educators in the classroom. Negative behavior and the public perception of teachers could be causing a

traumatic response in educators, similar to the trauma endured by students, which may result in a shortened fuse and strained student relationships. With adequate support from the administration or peers, educators may have the opportunity to address their own needs and the needs of their students.

Studies show that disruptive student behavior is a significant predictor of emotional exhaustion in teachers, which negatively affects job satisfaction and can lead to leaving the profession (Douglas et al., 2021). To address these issues, the SEL curriculum can provide alternatives and help teachers heal while improving student behavior. Managing the constant stress of the classroom, handling parents, and satisfying administration takes a lot from educators (SAMSHA, 2023). Trauma can be caused by various events and experienced collectively by people defined by culture, race, religion, ability, gender, sexuality, economic status, and natural disasters. Teacher burnout caused by stress is associated with higher cortisol levels. Building positive teacher-student relationships is crucial to reducing stress and improving well-being. Educators' perception of student behavior is vital to their relationship, and negative patterns and judgments can lead to burnout. Higher levels of teacher burnout are also associated with higher cortisol levels in both students and teachers (Laird, 2022; Douglas et al., 2021; SAMSHA,2023).

In order to implement TIC and SEL effectively, it is necessary to shift cultural practices that aim to bridge the gap between knowledge and practice. This shift must be grounded in a fundamental change in beliefs and assumptions surrounding student behavior and punitive consequences (Craig, 2016). Improving the overall climate can address the underlying conditions contributing to these issues (Douglas et al., 2021). SEL

can be a crucial tool in connecting student responses to classroom behaviors, ultimately leading to a better quality of education, an improved climate, and a stronger community. Educators must recognize their contribution to student behavior and work towards positive change (Laird, 2022; Douglas et al., 2021; SAMSA, 2023).

#### **Building Teacher Capacity**

It has been observed that many teachers are leaving the profession as they feel unsupported in addressing the needs of their students. It is crucial to understand that teachers' emotions play a vital role in the teaching and learning process (Chang, 2013). Therefore, it is essential to provide teachers with the necessary training and intervention approaches to address their students' and their trauma (Reisenbergs & Fefer, 2017). The well-being of teachers is directly related to their students' motivation and achievement, teacher retention, and physical and mental health (Aldrup et al., 2018).

Research has shown that teachers' exhaustion levels are closely linked to disruptive student behavior, leading to negative impacts on job satisfaction and potential departure from the profession (Kim et al., 2020). However, more studies are needed to investigate the relationship between job satisfaction, school climate, and teacher retention rates. With the Department of Education citing a crisis in the teacher shortage, it is more important than ever to ensure that teachers feel valued and productive (Kim et al., 2020).

According to Cineas (2022), teachers face unique stressors, including burnout, increased workload during the pandemic, and demoralization. Additionally, the high prevalence of trauma among students and the lack of trauma-informed care for teachers exacerbate these stress levels. One solution is to equip teachers with strategies to manage classroom behavior challenges and improve school climate (Kim et al., 2020). Chang

(2013) has suggested that habitual patterns in teacher judgments of student behavior can contribute significantly to unpleasant emotions and lead to burnout. However, current literature often overlooks the role of cognitive processing and solutions. To be sustainable, the administration must support school-based mental health interventions and be acceptable to teachers (Hans & Weiss, 2017; Reisenbergs & Fefer, 2017). Several studies have linked teacher efficacy and burnout to indicators and predictors of teacher performance and student achievement (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998; Tsouloupas et al., 2010).

Identifying low teacher efficacy and high burnout predictors is crucial to improving practical instruction and student outcomes (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2011). Proactive and positive classroom management (Woolfolk, 2007) and strong teacher performance (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2007; Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2010; Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001; Wolters & Dougherty, 2007) are positively correlated with these factors. Effective instructional coaching is valuable for facilitating professional learning, strengthening teacher-student relationships, and building a learning community (Hall & Simereal, 2008). Through reflective practices and positive classroom changes, an instructional coach can help teachers improve student learning and overall job satisfaction (Hall & Simeral, 2008).

#### **Improving School Climate Through Professional Development**

President Obama's signing of the 2015 Every Student Succeeds Act highlighted the importance of expanding educational programming to ensure academic success for all students. Section 4018 of the Act, Activities to Support Safe and Healthy Students, emphasizes the need for evidence-based, high-quality professional development on

trauma-informed practices for all levels of school personnel (114th Congress of the United States of America, 2015). Media coverage of traumatic events, such as school violence and the pandemic, has brought attention to the need for teachers to be equipped to support students dealing with trauma. This issue remains relevant today, especially with the rise of social media and constant news updates (Mader, 2015).

According to Laird (2022), educators must embody social-emotional learning (SEL) to teach it effectively. To truly understand their students and their learning, teachers who interact with students should be introduced to basic information about trauma, its prevalence, and its impact (NCSS, 2021). This includes understanding both their trauma and their students' trauma, as well as what trauma-informed care entails, particularly the disproportionate effects on individuals from underserved groups and people of color. Teachers must be aware of what they and their students are experiencing in the classroom and society (NCSS, 2021). SAMHSA (2023) defines trauma as the long-term adverse effects on an individual's well-being resulting from exposure to either a single event, multiple events, or conditions that produce a solid physical, emotional, or stress response. High levels of teacher stress can lead to chronic emotional exhaustion, threatening the quality of instruction and students' school functioning. This stress can also spread to the classroom, leading to an adverse classroom climate and increased use of punitive strategies when managing challenging behaviors. This, in turn, reinforces student misbehavior and further exacerbates symptoms of teacher stress (Osher et al., 2008).

Implementing evidence-based SEL programs focusing on environmental changes, developing protective factors, and practicing stress-response management skills can promote student and instructional staff resilience (NCSS, 2021). To effectively teach

these concepts, educators must comprehensively understand them. Just as with curriculum, one program may only be effective for some learners, and multiple learning modes are often more effective. School administrators who sporadically incorporate SEL concepts without proper accountability and rewards for students risk undermining the school climate and encouraging negative behavior. While it may be tempting to bribe students with snacks or toys to return to class, rewarding negative behavior only perpetuates it. SEL and TIC should be school-wide initiatives implemented appropriately, with cultural sensitivity and a focus on healing and improving responses to stressors (Duane et al., 2021; NEARS, 2022). A promising way to break the stress cycle is to prepare teachers to manage behavioral challenges in the classroom, which can increase self-efficacy and decrease burnout (Kim et al., 2021). Students can learn to manage stress and develop the skills they need to succeed by utilizing culturally relevant pedagogy in conjunction with SEL and TIC (SAMSHA, 2023).

If the meditation process causes discomfort or dysregulation for someone, the entire class may be negatively affected, outweighing any potential healing benefits. Learning takes place in a communal setting, and harm or trauma experienced by one student can have a ripple effect on others. To promote a safe and inclusive learning environment, it is essential to provide a variety of models that address not only the student's trauma but also the educator's well-being. By incorporating trauma-informed training and mindfulness-based social and emotional learning programs, teachers can better manage stress and improve their overall health and teaching effectiveness. Meiklejohn et al. (2012) highlighted the direct and indirect benefits of integrating mindfulness programs into the standard curriculum. In addition to teaching mindfulness-

based SEL programs directly to students, teachers can reap benefits by practicing and modeling the skills they promote. According to De Carvalho, Pinto, and Marôco's (2017) research, most teachers who implemented such programs scored higher in self-awareness, awareness of their surroundings, and personal accomplishment than in the comparison group. Similarly, Zinsser, Christensen, and Torres (2016) found that teachers in educational settings with SEL programs reported feeling better supported in handling challenging behaviors and experienced higher job satisfaction. These findings suggest that mindfulness-based SEL programs can benefit students and teachers delivering the program (Kim et al., 2021).

The teaching profession sees a significant number of teachers leaving within their first five years, creating a pressing need to understand the factors associated with job satisfaction and retention. Teacher efficacy and burnout have emerged as crucial factors in this regard, especially given the impact of legislative mandates, accountability measures, and behavioral challenges on school climate and student outcomes. These pressures will likely contribute to teacher turnover by affecting teacher efficacy and burnout (Glickman & Tamashiro, 1982; Marvel et al., 2006).

There are also severe consequences for the physical and mental health of teachers who experience high levels of burnout, which can lead to poor performance and negative attitudes toward students (Huberman, 1993). Social and emotional learning (SEL) programs have become increasingly popular to counter these challenges, as they can promote staff retention and improve student outcomes. Teachers who feel well-equipped to handle their job responsibilities are more likely to have high levels of efficacy, less burnout, and better student connections (Schonfeld, 2001; Tatar & Horenczyk, 2003; Pas

et al., 2012). Moreover, staff efficacy tends to improve when principals address schoolwide issues and support their staff, such as by developing a consistent system for managing behavioral problems (Pas, 2012).

Despite growing interest in teacher efficacy and burnout, there needs to be more research on the specific teacher and school contextual factors that predict changes in efficacy and burnout over time (Pas et al., 2012). However, recent findings suggest that teacher efficacy and burnout levels tend to increase over time, with evidence suggesting that burnout may increase faster than efficacy. This underscores the importance of implementing measures that enhance teacher efficacy while reducing the incidence of burnout. The critical role of preparedness and stressors in determining efficacy and burnout further emphasizes the need for targeted interventions for educators (Bradshaw et al., 2009). There may be a distinction between preparedness gained from pre-service training versus that acquired through in-service training among teachers with more practical experience (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998).

Programs focused on social and emotional learning (SEL) that encourage strong staff relationships and support may positively affect teacher efficacy and prevent burnout. Interventions that address these factors should be developed and tested to determine their impact on these critical teacher outcomes. According to intervention literature, consultation services like learning communities and coaching have been shown to improve teacher efficacy. For example, a recent study using coaching to provide teachers with evidence-based practices through the Instructional Consultation Teams model saw significant improvements in teachers' efficacy (Vu et al., 2011). Further research must examine the long-term effects of professional development that directly targets teacher

preparedness to work with students who have experienced trauma and other related teacher factors on teacher efficacy, burnout, and student outcomes (Pas et al., 2012).

#### **Trauma Informed Care**

According to research by Duane and colleagues (2021), toxic stress resulting from adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and trauma can hinder the development of a learning brain and have lasting impacts on adult brains. Perry (2022) has compared ACEs to the body's natural response to challenging situations, which can trigger fight, flight, or freeze responses (NCMW, 2022). Unfortunately, a significant number of children are subjected to traumatic experiences that impact their overall development and well-being (Douglass et al., 2021). Children who have been exposed to adversity or trauma may struggle with self-regulation and forming healthy attachments, which can lead to disruptive behavior in the classroom (Kim et al., 2021). Many grown-ups can recall an event or period that disturbed their formative years, causing social, emotional, or physical harm. Such an experience can lead to trauma, resulting from the intense stress levels involved (Blaustein, 2013). While certain students may appear to have quickly bounced back from such traumatic incidents, others might continue to face challenges in their daily lives. Some might even become successful leaders, while others may struggle well into adulthood (Blaustein, 2013).

Adults can encourage positive behavior by modeling it, while teachers can establish a stable and nurturing environment that fosters growth and success. Teachers can promote a safe and stable relationship in the classroom by recognizing the importance of providing students with a small amount of compassion. Trauma-informed care (TIC) can also help to create a supportive environment that mitigates the adverse

effects of trauma and promotes resilience and healing (Douglas et al., 2021). Through trauma-informed training, teachers can gain foundational knowledge that enables them to view student misbehavior with a fresh perspective (Kim et al., 2021). Significant harm could come from lacking a critical lens through trauma-informed care to analyze mindfulness interventions in school-based mindfulness practices (Duane et al., 2021). School should be a safe place for students to use their time to prepare for the day rather than being upset about the interactions with the teachers and educators. Positive and negative experiences in childhood have an impact on youth development. Trauma, chronic stress, and ACES, such as abuse, neglect, loss, and illness, are associated with adverse social, health, and mental outcomes. The more ACEs, the more significant the disruption in youth development (Baez, 2018). Without adequate training, teachers may fail to identify the underlying causes of disruptive behaviors despite the students' attempts to convey distress through these behaviors (Kim et al., 2021).

Recognizing that more than a single day of professional development is needed for TIC to impact learning truly is essential. Instead, ongoing coaching and professional development are necessary to respond to students displaying harmful or inappropriate behavior effectively. Duane (2021) built on SAMHSA's definition of safety by including spiritual and relational safety, and intellectual safety could also be included. In a traumainformed setting, students feel accepted and affirmed by instructional staff for who they are and what they know (NCMW, 2022).

Unfortunately, the pandemic has caused schools to lose key staff members, which will have long-term impacts on the profession. Chronic emotional exhaustion resulting from staff shortages, increased mental health issues caused by harmful behavior, and

strained relationships all threaten the quality of instruction and student's ability to function in school (Kim et al., 2020). That is why implementing TIC and SEL, with the help of coaches to support educators, is crucial. This approach helps staff understand that students can change the climate in the building, builds capacity with the staff, and entices new instructional staff to join the team. Person-centered teacher attitudes and behaviors, such as empathy, warmth, and the ability to adapt to individual differences, have reduced disruptive behavior (Cornelius-White, 2007). Trauma-informed schools must build staff capacities to positively impact adversity-affected children (Kim et al., 2021).

Research has shown that trauma-informed professional development training can help teachers develop a more sensitive approach towards traumatized students, leading to a classroom environment that is responsive to their needs (Dorado et al., 2016; McIntyre et al., 2019). This type of training encourages teachers to engage in the coregulation of emotions and establish secure teacher-student relationships, which can help with deficient self-regulatory capacities and attachment difficulties (Brunzell et al., 2016). Studies have demonstrated that implementing trauma-informed programs can lead to reduced referrals to the office for disciplinary actions and better defusing of defiant behavior (Dorado et al., 2016; Shamblin et al., 2016). Teachers participating in these programs have reported feeling more confident in de-escalating classroom disturbances and responding to behavioral issues with compassion. Implementing a trauma-informed framework in schools can alleviate teacher burden and reduce student referrals (Kim et al., 2021). However, Chafouleas et al. (2016) suggest that delivering trauma-informed care within a multitiered framework of school-based services is essential to better sustain and obtain buy-in from school staff with diverse interests.

## **Social Emotional Learning**

Social Emotional Learning (SEL) has been the answer for many districts to reconnect with students after the pandemic and repair their sense of well-being (Laird, 2022). A well-established track record of SEL helping students become better learners, happy, and more confident is established (Laird, 2022). Social and emotional competencies have been defined as an individual's ability to recognize and manage their emotions, appreciate the perspective of others, establish pro-social goals, and solve problems (Evans et al., 2015). Complex multi-dimensional approaches of SEL aim to transform the educational climate (Evans et al., 2015). Implementing SEL in a school setting entails enhancing learning opportunities, improving school ethos, and weakening boundaries between students, the school, the community, and parents (Evans et al., 2015). SEL programs can provide teachers with tools to promote these social-emotional capacities (Kim et al., 2021). Educator SEL refers to the competencies adults need to manage stress to create a safe and supportive classroom environment. SEL programs enhance the skills and mindsets required to embody, teach effectively, and model SEL. SEL programs assist educators in becoming coaches for students and improve the overall well-being and emotional state of adults in school settings (Ieva & Beasley, 2022). By Participating in SEL, teachers can learn to be genuine with students about their experiences and foster positive relationships (Ieva & Beasley, 2022).

Programs typically include three critical intervention approaches. They often involve systematically teaching skill sets with notable examples that aim to transform the educational context by enhancing learning opportunities, improving school ethos, and weakening the boundaries (Evans et al., 2015). SEL needs to be implemented in terms of

cultural context and trauma-informed care mindfulness. Many teachers set expectations and activities for students without realizing the discomfort of closing their eyes in a crowded room or sharing their feelings. When students are forced to meditate and uncomfortable with the scenario, they could become dysregulated, and their behaviors intensify, starting a cycle of negative behavior (Duane et al., 2021). Students should be surrounded by supportive and engaging adults who consistently model taking responsibility for their choices and actions, showing empathy, and dealing with conflicts (Laird, 2022). It takes a lot to manage the constant stress of managing a classroom, handling parents, and satisfying school administrators. The actions of educators are just as necessary as the words (Laird, 2022). SEL should not be a separate class but integrated into all the activities and interactions during the day. Students are watching how educators interact. In so many schools around the state, students walk through a metal detector and rush to class just to be given detention because the bus is late. Moments later, they are asked to meditate as part of an SEL program. The forced meditation shows a disconnect between the culture of the school and the SEL that is part of the class. Students and teachers must understand that SEL relates to school climate and everyday activities. Studies indicate that educators must grasp SEL; unfortunately, only 1 in 5 teachers report feeling prepared to teach the concepts (Duane et al., 2021).

Diverse professional development offered at schools will impact the school's culture, and administrators and staff must collaborate. SEL could impact educators as much as it affects the students on the receiving end of the curriculum. The effectiveness of this approach has been identified in several reviews of SEL interventions and programs (Evans et al., 2015). Reinbergs and Fefer (2017) identified (SEL) curricula as

an intervention that can augment trauma-informed training. Ortiz and Sibinga (2017) showed that SEL mindfulness interventions can help mitigate behavioral consequences of trauma by enhancing emotional regulation, increasing social skills, and promoting positive classroom behavior. The compatibility of these approaches suggests that SEL supports a trauma-informed framework. Mindfulness-based SEL provides teachers with the skills to respond to disruptive classroom behavior likely related to past trauma (Kim et al., 2021).

### Chapter 3

## Methodology

A qualitative design was employed to understand better how social-emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC) impact educators' well-being and longevity in the profession. This study focused on schools within the "East Coast" district and examined the educators' perceptions of SEL and TIC and their impact. The study included a document review of incident reports, focus groups, and individual interviews with instructional staff, child study team members, administrators, and professional development providers.

The first step of the study was to examine incident reports of classroom incidents prior to and after the implementation of social-emotional learning and trauma-informed care professional development. The researcher analyzed classroom incident reports and sorted them to include verbal and physical assaults on students and staff, aggressive acts, and elopements. The number of incidents before and after educators participated in SEL and TIC professional development courses and supports was examined to use as reference points during interviews and focus groups.

Additionally, completed district exit interviews from 2019 until the present were reviewed to understand the reasons for resignations, transfers, and retirements. The data from these documents was coded to identify patterns and develop interview questions. The documents were reviewed to understand the climate better and create questions and discussion points for interviews and focus groups.

A group of 35 educators who work in the "East Coast" special needs school district volunteered to participate in either a focus group or a focus group and individual interview. From this group, 17 volunteered to participate in 1:1 interviews to clarify information from the focus group further. The selection criteria were based on their experience implementing Social-Emotional Learning (SEL) and Trauma-Informed Care (TIC) or their attendance at district-wide professional development experiences. All participants were currently employed by the "East Coast" school district. "East Coast" school district is a pseudonym for the district.

## **Description of the Setting**

The "East Coast" school district consists of fourteen schools and seven education programs. These educational institutions are spread across the State and cater to diverse student populations, including those facing academic challenges due to behavioral issues or teenage/adolescent pregnancy and parenthood and underserved and disenfranchised students. The education programs are located in residential behavioral health settings and hospitals across the State, providing specialized care to students in need.

While the schools are situated in urban and suburban settings, most students commute to school from either urban areas or rural areas. The residential programs are part of a broader network that offers students comprehensive behavioral and mental health support. Community provider referrals, the Department of Children and Families, and school referral services facilitate enrollment in these residential programs. The "East Coast" school district is an option for school residents in some of the programs, but some students attend their regular school district if it is within a reasonable distance from the residence. In two of the programs, the students are required to participate in the school

on-site as they are court-mandated to attend and cannot participate in school in a general education setting.

The schools are relatively small, allowing personalized attention to help students overcome at-risk behaviors. The average class size is six students, with a maximum of twelve. Each classroom is staffed with a certified teacher and an aide for additional support, and some classes have multiple aides to manage more intense behaviors.

Each school has an on-site administrator, assistant administrator, child study team case manager, and various related services. In cases where content teachers may not be available in person, virtual instruction is provided. Efforts are made to ensure in-person instruction whenever possible. Virtual team teaching is utilized to ensure students have access to content-certified teachers in all required areas for high school graduation. For example, a qualified math teacher located in the southern part of the state may teach students in the northernmost city, providing specialized content knowledge. In addition, a dedicated teacher who supports students with disabilities is present in the classroom to offer assistance with support and classroom management.

Our sample of educators was drawn from a cohort with a solid background in social-emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC) professional development and who actively participated in a virtual discussion group. These educators work in one of fourteen schools or three education programs. It's important to note that educators from hospital programs were not eligible for inclusion, as their classes typically involve bedside instruction or a two-to-one classroom ratio, and they do not usually encounter recorded behavior issues. It's worth mentioning that our definition of

"educator" encompasses certified teachers, classroom assistants, child study team members, administrators, and aides who support students.

Educators in the district cater to a diverse student population, which includes teenage parents and those who have faced challenges in traditional school settings, attending alternative programs. The students who require support include those with mental health concerns or who have been placed in out-of-home care. According to the Department of Education's definition, these students are considered at-risk (NJDOE, 2023). Many of them have endured significant trauma and Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES). It is not uncommon for these schools to enroll high-achieving students who may need additional support from behavior specialists or childcare providers for their own children.

## Procedure

Educators and professional development providers had the opportunity to participate in a personalized face-to-face interview and a virtual focus group. The educators include teachers, counselors, administrators, coaches, trainers, and teaching assistants assigned to at-risk classrooms and participate in the established virtual Professional Learning Community (PLC) through Microsoft Teams. During the COVID-19 pandemic, this PLC was initiated to allow for collaboration among those interested in the district social-emotional learning (SEL) programs and has continued to serve as a platform for this purpose. Teachers and counselors participated in individual interviews, while teaching assistants participated in focus groups. A message was posted to the virtual bulletin board in the PLC group on TEAMS to explain the study's purpose and encourage staff to participate. The message board is available to all 420 employees in the

district; however, typically, those interested in the SEL and TIC are those who read the channel. Additional literature was available as reference points for vocabulary and a refresh of material and goals, if requested by participants. There were no such requests.

Three semi-structured focus groups were conducted, with participants from SEL and TIC professional development experiences and one focus group of school administrators. These meetings gathered the educators' perspectives about their experiences with the SEL coaches and team and their trauma-informed training. Participants were asked thought-provoking questions such as "How has your perspective changed regarding your students as a result of the SEL and trauma-informed training?" and "Have you noticed any changes in your teaching or classroom as a result of implementing the SEL program?" Additionally, educators were asked if they utilize SEL or TIC techniques with staff members or in their personal lives and if they enjoy working with their students. These virtual meetings were held in Microsoft Teams to allow for representation from each school. Each group consisted of six to eight participants and lasted approximately one hour during an in-service day. The focus group of school administrators was in person and took place after an administrative meeting. There were seven participants in the administration focus group. The meeting took place in the allpurpose room of one of the schools. There were a total of 35 total participants in the four focus groups.

In addition, 18 one-on-one interviews were conducted to delve deeper into the topics discussed in the focus groups. These interviews revolved around SEL and TIC and the program's impact on the participants' personal and professional lives (Charlton et al., 2021). The interviews and focus groups were recorded, transcribed, and analyzed for

patterns of information. The individual interviews clarified essential points arising from the focus groups. They allowed the participants to discuss areas of concern or provide more details than they had during their focus groups.

As previously indicated in this document, pseudonyms were used for each interviewee, district, and school to ensure the participants' privacy. All interviewees signed a release and acknowledgment digitally, which allowed their answers to be used in this study.

## **Data Collection**

In order to improve the organization's capacity with staff, school leaders examined exit interviews conducted with teachers who resigned or retired for patterns and themes. The interviews consist of three questions and have become part of the organization's improvement plan. The Office of Human Resources designed and conducted the interviews during the staff members' final week with the organization. The exit interviews from every staff member who resigned or retired were examined for themes and patterns. Three administrators from a school with the highest number of incidents retired or resigned within three years of recording data. The fourth administrator has been in place for three years. The exit interviews did not report any other significant findings, as staff members did not clarify why they were resigning or retiring in their answers to questions.

Incident reports from 2018 to the present were reviewed to identify steps taken prior to reportable incidents such as assault, elopement, or aggression, taking into account whether educators participated in SEL and TIC professional development and if these techniques were used. This information helped during discussions in focus groups and

informal interviews to prompt participants for information regarding trauma-informed care, social-emotional learning, and the impact on school climate and staff recidivism.

Individual interviews were voluntary and conducted in a neutral setting, either in the educator's classroom or virtually. All identifying information will remain confidential and anonymous, and recordings and transcriptions are stored in Rowan University's Cloud. The data was used to identify patterns and insights from both the focus group and the individual interviews.

## **Current Program**

The district's educators have been actively engaged in various social-emotional learning practices to enhance their skills. Upon employment, all staff members are enrolled in the organization's SEL program, further reinforced with personalized group and individual coaching sessions, as required. The training and Wellness Wednesdays are not optional. All staff are encouraged to participate in various activities and coaching sessions. The students are dismissed early on Wednesdays to provide time for the teachers to collaborate, attend professional development, and attend the coaching sessions.

The SEL Curriculum is a comprehensive training program that equips educators in the district with the necessary tools to create a trauma-informed and resilient school environment. This training focuses on resilience-building, exploring educators' core values and beliefs, and emphasizes understanding how trauma affects children and their school experience. The program provides proactive strategies such as fostering connections, prioritizing social and emotional skills, establishing safety, and promoting play, all of which are designed to create the best possible classroom and school support

for traumatized students and the professionals who serve them. The course offers detailed information and concrete actions that answer the "why" and the "how" of creating a trauma-informed and resilient educational environment (SAMSHA, 2023; Glasser, 2022). The objectives of this program include identifying at least five questions to promote a trauma-informed and resilience-focused mindset when working with students in the school setting, identifying the four main protective factors of resilient youth, discussing universal needs, and providing examples to support each by identifying the three main functions of the deep brain, identifying at least three functions of the outer brain, and describing how trauma impacts the deep and outer brain functions specifically in the school setting (Glasser, 2022).

The program also covers identifying at least five ways in which trauma and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder symptoms may overlap and identifies at least five proactive strategies for every classroom. Ultimately, the SEL Curriculum promotes healing-centered engagement that is culturally responsive and fosters a sense of meaning, self-perception, purpose, and healthy identity (Glasser, 2022).

The SEL training follows a specific format, starting with a certified trainer's initial training session for new staff. This session is mandatory for all district staff within their first year of hire. It covers essential topics such as personal regulation, recognition identification, and practical strategies for resetting oneself into a more positive mindset.

For ongoing training, a certified or advanced trainer offers a refresher course to all staff after they have completed the initial six-hour training. This three-hour session reviews the same topics and delves into methods and techniques used in the classroom.

Additional support is available through trauma training, facilitated by a trained consultant, and offered to all staff. This training covers various topics, including types of trauma, how trauma presents in youth, responses to trauma, brain and trauma, and interventions and strategies. Trauma training is available as needed, lasts 1.5 to 2 hours, and can be provided virtually or in person during professional development or in-service days. Each training session can accommodate up to 100 staff members.

Our organization offers self-regulation skills training for all staff, which a trained consultant facilitates. During the training, participants learn about the importance of self-regulation, seven types of sensory regulations, examples of regulation activities, and the benefits of regulation techniques. This training is held annually for 1.5-2 hours and can be attended in person or virtually. It is typically scheduled during professional development or our annual district retreat. In-person training can accommodate 25-30 staff, while virtual training can host up to 100 participants.

In addition to self-regulation training, the district provides additional support training for all staff. A certified or advanced trainer facilitates this training. It is designed to address strategies and applications based on site needs, individual populations, and school behavior trends. These trainings are scheduled quarterly or when needed, typically lasting between 20 and 60 minutes. They can be attended in-person or virtually at individual schools, and the number of participating staff varies depending on the delivery method. The training can be scheduled during a staff meeting, Wellness Wednesdays, or other designated times determined by the building administrator.

The district provides training and certification opportunities for staff interested in facilitating training. An esteemed consulting firm offers training to the initial group every

three years, and the district leaders and the Star team maintain ongoing communication. Support is offered through email, phone, and virtual meetings for as long as needed. Trainers receive both virtual and in-person support through email and telephone (IENVISION, 2023). A quarterly newsletter is also sent to all trainers via email. Furthermore, a State university maintains an online sharing system called "Canvas," which offers training materials to all trainers and school staff.

Monthly leaders' meetings, lasting about an hour, are facilitated virtually and in person and attended by Advanced Trainers designated as leaders. Additionally, trainer meetings are offered to all trainers and facilitated by leaders, and booster sessions are held monthly, also lasting an hour and provided both virtually and in person.

Both the Champion team meeting and learning community meeting are held bimonthly, with a duration of 1-2 hours, and are conducted virtually. Additional meetings are also available to guide the staff in implementing SEL techniques and methods supported by the district. The Champion Teams play a vital role in transforming schools into supportive communities that foster growth and excellence in learning. They achieve this by building solid relationships through word of mouth, personal invitations, newsletters, and supervisor designations. The Champion team supports staff members through individual consultations or group meetings upon request. The length and delivery method of the support can vary depending on the individual's needs and preferences.

The coaching process commences with professional development experiences for Teachers in the East Coast district, aimed at further developing their socio-political consciousness, which was introduced with the SEL program. A leader or coach guides learning activities to help Teachers practice ways of orchestrating learning that build their

students' brain power in culturally congruent ways. Educators learn to establish authentic connections with their students, promoting mutual trust and respect. Holding students accountable, behaviorally and academically, is expected of educators, as it is seen as a sign of respect and necessary in relationship building (McCarthy, 2023). Upon completing the training and coaching, Teachers are expected to incorporate brain principles from neuroscience into their teaching, helping dependent learners develop the cognitive routines necessary for higher-order thinking and strengthening their students' resilience.

The scope and sequence of this coaching process begins with an overview of the three levels of culture: understanding one's cultural lens, cultural archetypes, and the science of how the brain learns. This workshop serves as a refresher for educators. The next phase focuses on learning partnerships, emphasizing how self-regulation precedes co-regulation, accountability with the heart (balance of care and push), and the biology of stress (chronic stress manifests in the body just like trauma) (McCarthy, 2023). Finally, information processing is honed, focusing on input, elaboration, and output, tools for independent learning, and Havard's Project Zero (McCarthy, 2023).

The educators begin with one hour virtually as a large group where they share goals and partnerships, lay the foundation of concepts, and familiarize district staff with using a text set. The activities are designed to grow independent learners and incorporate them into their lessons, building capacity in expectations/skills. The second day is a full day for targeted schools. All participants receive an activity to complete with their students and send feedback. All resources, including feedback forms, are provided to the participants.

Wednesday afternoons are available for professional development and follow-up with training support. The students are dismissed early, and staff is involved in "Wellness Wednesday activities to reinforce the skills and discuss methods. The coaches and leaders are available to go to different sites to conduct "bite-size" professional development in person. Finally, the expectation is to do a lesson with their classes. The coach observes when the lessons are being taught and then debriefs.

## Analysis

The interviews were transcribed and coded using deductive methods adapted from Saldana (2016). The researcher used codes to recognize themes and interpret results by reflexively looking at and validating findings (Creswell, 2014). Thematic coding was used to identify and analyze themes in the data. The coding identified themes, recurring patterns, or ideas representing essential aspects of the research (Creswell, 2014). The researcher assumed the participants honestly answered questions based on an accurate memory of knowledge, dispositions, and behaviors prior to the SEL and TIC professional development.

The exit interviews and incident reports were coded to find themes to utilize as data points to discuss further during interviews. The incident reports consisted of teacher and administrative reports from the schools to the central office utilizing a student information system. The district or program names will not be utilized during data collection or reporting.

## Limitations

While the study had the potential to provide valuable information for school leaders on the benefits of TIC and SEL professional development, it is essential to note

its limitations. Firstly, the study only collected data from a small special needs school district within the state, meaning the findings may not be generalized to other school districts. Educators were not selected randomly to participate in the study; therefore, selection may be a limiting factor (Creswell, 2014). Internal threats are research procedures, experimental interventions, or participant experiences that negatively impact the researcher's ability to make correct interpretations of the population based on the data (Creswell, 2014). Secondly, the training was specific to the district, and results may vary depending on the nature of professional development (PD) activities in other districts.

This study is the first attempt to measure employee perceptions of change in knowledge, dispositions, and behaviors towards traumatized students and their desire to remain in the profession using interviews and focus groups. It is worth noting that other demographic variables such as race, ethnicity, participant exposure to trauma, or prior training are included in the analysis, but past trauma was difficult to discuss. Self-report retrospective designs are vulnerable to social desirability responses and accuracy, so it's essential to acknowledge that the design may not be the most reliable assessment of knowledge, beliefs, and behaviors (Klatt & Taylor-Powell, 2005).

Participants received notification that their responses would remain anonymous and would be combined with other results to ensure greater accuracy and reduce social desirability bias. The fact that the researcher conducting the study is the chief school administrator for the schools being studied influenced participants to either participate or decline. When educators were asked to complete interviews, they could have been inclined to agree with statements related to trauma-informed care, as they aligned with

the district's mission statement. However, some teachers may have been hesitant to admit to experiencing burnout as they fear potential retaliation from their administrators.

It's important to acknowledge that while focus groups can be useful for exploring experiences, they can also censor dissenting opinions or reinforce established views and behaviors (Kitzinger, 1994). We are also aware that some teachers, especially those who may feel the least productive or most burned-out, may choose not to participate, and we had no way of measuring this information through any other means. Additionally, the schools included in this study were all from a single state and were not a random sample of schools. Given the number of school-level factors examined and the complexity of the modeling, the number of schools participating was relatively small, which limited the number of school-level variables that could be explored. Future studies should include a broader range of teacher constructs.

## Summary

The COVID-19 pandemic and other significant global events have brought about profound changes in the lives of educators and students, with some experiencing illness and loss within their immediate families. These events, viewed as traumatic, can be defined as severe disruptions to community functioning, resulting in widespread human, material, economic, or environmental losses that exceed the impacted individuals' ability to cope with their resources. (Mahar et al., 2008; Stafford et al., 2008). The approach of trauma-informed care (TIC) acknowledges that individuals may have experienced trauma and utilizes methods that respond appropriately while minimizing the potential for further traumatization. By recognizing trauma and implementing trauma-sensitive routines and social-emotional learning (SEL) for both educators and students, they can have more

opportunities for academic and emotional growth and success. The well-being of educators is linked to student motivation and achievement, teacher retention, and mental health (Aldrup et al., 2018). With an improving economy, there may be a significant increase in retirements and departures from the teaching profession (Cineas, 2022). The sheer number of vacant teaching positions, over 200,000 annually in K-12 schools (Kraft & Lyon, 2022), limits the ability of most schools and educator preparation programs to be highly selective in their admissions and hiring processes. As the pandemic lingers and new state laws impose restrictions on discussions of sensitive topics in schools, an already prevalent issue has been reignited: the future of the teaching profession. Dissatisfaction and burnout among educators have been on the rise (Diliberti & Schwartz, 2022; Woo et al., 2022), prompting questions about the potential impact on the next generation of college graduates and their decision to pursue teaching careers. This study investigated the links between teacher burnout, capacity, trauma-informed care, and social-emotional learning in the classroom.

## **Chapter IV**

## Results

This research investigated the opinions of school personnel regarding professional development programs centered on social-emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC). It also explored whether staff members experienced benefits based on the frequency of sessions and integration of SEL and TIC training. The forthcoming chapter will summarize descriptive and inferential findings, categorized by focus group and interview inquiry. Descriptive statistics have presented the most common responses to the interview questions (n=35). Additional incident reports were examined to determine the frequency and severity of incidents before and after SEL and TIC professional development programs were implemented in 2019. There was a substantial decrease in reportable incidents within the 13 schools throughout the district, from 483 incidents in 2018 to just 27 in 2023. It must be noted that implementation coincided with COVID-19 and the students were not in person during that time.

### **Demographic Summary of Participants**

It is essential to provide a breakdown of participant demographics for accurate data interpretation and study significance. In this case, 420 State of NJ employees received invitations to participate in SEL and TIC professional development, consisting of teachers, administrators, child study team members, and support staff who engaged in development experiences together. Of the 420 invitees, 35 actively participated in the interviews and focus groups. There were 25 others who could not participate due to a schedule conflict, and many excluded themselves because they stated they did not

participate in SEL or TIC professional development experiences. The invitation recipients hailed from diverse professional backgrounds, including bus drivers, teachers, custodians, administrators, child study team members, and aides. The participants themselves were a mix of teachers, administrators, child study team members, and aides. The respondents comprised approximately 8% of the total population. The primary focus was on engaging school administrators, teachers, and the child study team, who actively participated in weekly professional development and coaching sessions. As anticipated, the participants included only administrators, teachers, and the child study team. Together, these groups represent 29% of the total population of teachers, child study team members, and administrators.

## Table 1

## Demographics

Demographics	n=35	% of
		Total
		Group
Gender		
Male	5	14%
Female	30	86%
Other	n/a	0%
Number of Years Employed in the District		
0-5	6	17%
6-10	15	43%
11-15	10	29%
16-20	4	11%
Employee Classification		
Teacher	20	57%
Administrator	5	14%

Demographics	n= 35	% of Total Group
Employee Classification		
Child Study Team	6	17%
Support Staff (aide, assistant)	4	11%
Grade Level		
K-8	4	11%
9-12	31	89%
Professional Development Sessions Attended		
Curriculum Introductions and Champion Team	35	100%
Coaching Sessions	20	57%

The majority of respondents were female (n=30), with support staff (n=8) and teachers (n=15) comprising the most prominent groups. Most participants worked in a high school setting (n=31) and attended both the curriculum professional development and coaching sessions (n=35); however, only 57% (n=20) reported attending coaching sessions and were referring to the sessions as wellness or professional development. It should be noted that response rates varied, as one staff member opted to nod or shake their head instead of answering questions during the focus group, and one participant became uncomfortable with answering questions during 1:1 interviews. The responses

indicated agreement or disagreement but did not articulate a verbal response that was recorded in the transcript. The district IRB committee clarified that the researcher should refrain from pushing or making participants uneasy since the researcher is the Chief School Administrator.

## **Focus Group Discussion**

The initial focus group occurred in person after an administrative meeting at one of the schools. The three subsequent focus groups were conducted on Microsoft Teams, a virtual meeting platform. Attendance at the in-person meeting was voluntary, and school administrators had the option to depart for the day or stay and participate in the focus group discussion. Seven of the 12 administrators present chose to remain for the focus group. For the virtual meetings, each participant was requested to join during district professional development days, which were included in the school calendar. Staff had the option to work from home as long as they had registered for training for part of the day. In the second focus group, all four participants had made prior arrangements to attend and had informed their supervisor a week in advance. In the third group, out of twelve participants, ten had notified both the researcher and their supervisor about their intention to participate, while two did not inform anyone. Lastly, in the fourth group, only six out of twelve participants had informed the researcher in advance of their intention to join the group.

It was evident that those who had planned ahead for their involvement were more positive in their responses and demonstrated a clearer understanding of the concepts. Those who had decided to participate at the last minute did not have confidence and awareness of the concepts and their impact on instruction and were not able to articulate

the SEL and TIC concepts or ideas. The link to the focus group was sent via email to those who expressed interest and also posted on the Social Emotional Learning (SEL) team channel in the application, allowing anyone to attend if they needed to participate in a professional development experience that day and had attended SEL and TIC professional development in the past.

All groups were guided through identical questions. However, the nature of the discussions differed depending on the groups' responses and their level of engagement. The first group of administrators openly shared their answers, as did the second group, which comprised of teachers and child study team members. The third and fourth groups demonstrated less involvement, with two individuals frequently steering the conversation in different directions. The final two groups were apprehensive about their answers, and two members of the group were a bit aggressive in their tone.

# Question 1: What Experiences Have You Had Related to Social Emotional Learning and Trauma Informed Care?

The initial inquiry focused on the staff's experiences with Social Emotional Learning (SEL) and Trauma Informed Care (TIC). During the focus group session, some participants needed clarification on the district's professional development (PD), which includes training on SEL and TIC, which were explicitly mentioned in the PD title of all experiences. Upon further discussion, participants recognized the training, which is mandatory twice a year for all staff and does not include the weekly Wellness Wednesday activities at each school. More than 70% of staff members also mentioned participating in training outside the district or through the Department of Education (DOE). The district's Champion Team, composed of experts, regularly promotes SEL and TIC principles to support teachers in every school. Providers and trainers confirmed that the staff from the focus group have received extensive training in SEL and TIC and have also been part of coaching experiences. Only about 5% of participants did not recall the training or coaching. Many individuals listed on the attendance sheet for the professional development events claimed they had no memory of attending the district training despite their names being present on the sign-in sheets. A significant portion (56%) mentioned that they acquired knowledge of SEL and TIC from other sources, such as out-of-district training. However, the administrators insisted that the entire faculty had indeed participated in the training and were well-informed about it.

# *Question 2: How Did the Professional Development Experiences Impact You as a Teacher?*

The school administration has reported decreased student incidents and positive teacher feedback regarding the district's SEL and TIC professional development. One administrator stated that since the coaching took place, more behaviors are handled at the classroom level and are not escalating beyond correction. One Assistant Principal noted that he is not running all over the building all day and has been able to create positive intervention programs for the students who are succeeding rather than dealing with student discipline.

Teachers have expressed that they are gaining a new perspective and no longer taking student behavior personally. Instead, (77%) have recognized that behavior may be influenced by developmental delays or external factors such as trauma. With this understanding, teachers reported adapting their approach to meet their students' needs better. By utilizing a trauma-informed mindset, teachers reported they have been able to

identify behavior patterns and help students achieve success. However, a minority (33%) of teachers have reported difficulty applying these concepts to their classroom management practices, viewing them as abstract ideas. One participant mentioned that while they were provided with a lot of information, they needed help applying it to their daily instruction. In one focus group, there was extensive conversation about integrating SEL and TIC in a classroom setting with differentiated instruction. Participants expressed uncertainty in modifying the concepts for the multiple levels in the classroom. They stated that they believed the concepts only applied to the special needs population, with support staff providing assistance. It was reported several times that SEL and TIC have taught teachers not to take student behavior personally, as students are not acting out for no reason. Seventy-seven percent of participants reported that after implementing SEL and TIC, the relationships with students effectively managed behaviors and developed more meaningful connections.

## Question 3: How Did the PD Experiences Impact You as a Learner?

As per the feedback from educators, they possess the skill to assess any situation more comprehensively and adapt their methods when faced with difficulties involving pupils, co-workers, or managers. These skills included daily living activities such as reducing road rage when driving or reducing conflict with a spouse. One participant reported changing their language when talking to their spouse, using "I" statements rather than "you" when sharing their feelings. Another reported being able to diffuse a volatile situation at a concert when two people were escalating their behavior. A third talked about being in the grocery store and intervening with a store employee and customer casually when they heard them beginning to argue over coupons. The participants report

the ability to hone the knack of identifying and focusing on essential issues while channeling their efforts toward achieving their objectives. Moreover, by acknowledging their learning style and past experiences, they report that they can recognize and operate within their constraints. The educators were able to discuss the concepts and how they apply to their classroom instruction in every focus group. More than fifty percent of the participants could not discuss specific terminology, but they had an overall understanding of the concepts.

Fifty-three percent of all participants have reported that they can better understand the organization's broader goals and objectives following professional development. All of the administrators acknowledged a better understanding of the goals and objectives after attending initial workshops and participating in discussions. They also emphasized the importance of focusing on self-care as a crucial aspect of professional development, recognizing the need to present themselves in the best possible manner and model appropriate behavior. Many participants noted that they have learned not to take negative behavior personally and have developed more extraordinary patience in the classroom. Teachers mentioned that they can now "reset" themselves when feeling frustrated with students, administration, or colleagues and have learned to let go of unimportant issues to focus on success. Additionally, by gaining insight into their own learning styles and trauma, they report having a better understanding of their limitations.

# Question 4: What Were the Most Significant Takeaways From the Professional Development?

The term "reset" was emphasized repeatedly in focus groups, as it allowed students to rectify their actions and prevent further escalation. The participants reported

that this word served as a unifying tool among students, staff, and resource homes, as it was deemed crucial for de-escalation incidents. It sparked a discussion about how the PD was critical to implementing a shared vocabulary to ensure all staff members are equipped to communicate effectively with students during critical situations.

During conversations, the SEL curriculum's familiar vocabulary was brought up repeatedly. It was reported that this curriculum has proven to be immensely helpful in conveying crucial messages during times of crisis, and it ensures that students receive consistent instruction across all classes. Additionally, it was stated in one focus group that the curriculum is a valuable starting point for treatment teams. It is believed to help reduce stress for staff and students by clearly understanding what to expect during emergencies and day-to-day activities. The participants cited examples stating that the expectations being the same in each class helps to support one another when there is a problem. The participants reported that having the same expectations in each class allows more time for instruction and meeting the needs of the students.

An example would be that the students are aware that cell phones are not permitted for recording in school, and this rule applies consistently across the entire school. Similarly, during a recent focus group discussion, a teacher emphasized the importance of maintaining consistency within the school and district-wide. She expressed concern that, with the rise of virtual classrooms, some students needed to adhere to the dress code or were using their phones during video classes. Her colleagues suggested that she address these concerns during coaching sessions and training to ensure that all teachers understand the necessity of upholding student accountability. They repeatedly

expressed the importance of being consistent, so the focus was on instruction rather than behavior correction.

The staff expressed how the curriculum has enabled them to effectively manage challenging situations in various public settings, including concerts, grocery stores, and driving. In all of the focus groups, participants elaborated on the times they had used SEL to diffuse a hostile situation or sway a person to act more appropriately. The participants noted that they have learned to "reset" themselves when feeling anxious in overwhelming crowds. Furthermore, they found that these techniques have equipped them with tools to de-escalate situations when dealing with agitated individuals. One of the most impactful applications has been in traffic, where they remind themselves that everyone has bad days and not to take road rage personally. Educators emphasize that social and emotional learning (SEL) provides individuals with practical techniques to deescalate various situations and offers a fresh perspective, even in challenging traffic scenarios. A majority of participants expressed and agreed (53%) that these techniques become ingrained in staff members through consistent practice, fostering a positive mindset and become an integral part of their approach to daily life. It was stated that the support from the administration made the mission and vision of providing students with a positive, safe culture more successful than if the teachers tried to implement it alone.

# Question 5: Would You Want to Continue With the Professional Development Experiences, and What Aspects?

The participants have expressed positive feedback regarding the SEL and TIC professional development sessions. The techniques and skills provided have helped them be more empathetic towards their students. Participants reported that the SEL and TIC

professional development experiences have also encouraged more meaningful ways of holding students accountable rather than resorting to mere punishment. While some staff members have yet to implement the techniques fully, they still appreciate the value of the concepts presented.

Three participants in a particular focus group required assistance locating relevant training and raised their concerns through the forum. Conversely, eighty percent of the remaining participants, who fully embraced the concepts, have experienced enhancements in various areas of their lives, such as stress reduction and managing tense situations. Despite ongoing challenges in the classroom, staff members report they can address these issues more efficiently by holding students accountable and looking ahead.

The feedback from the focus groups was overwhelmingly positive regarding the value of the coaching sessions. There was a clear desire for the concepts and techniques to be demonstrated in an instructional setting, even from those who hadn't participated in the coaching sessions. One participant expressed interest in joining the next cohort. Having students attend the training was considered beneficial rather than integrating it into the curriculum. However, it was noted that one participant in a focus group felt students might not benefit from the training and may not take it seriously. One participant explained how students often mock teachers when using some of the vocabulary in volatile situations. The majority of participants disagreed with this opinion, considering it to be a minority perspective and potentially an outlier. Additionally, it was observed that while there is some resistance to the concepts, many participants have been successful with their own methods for years, suggesting that SEL and TIC are only some of the

successful techniques for building classroom culture. This opinion came primarily from the educators with over twenty years of experience.

The majority of participants in all focus groups (over 80%) emphasized the necessity of additional curriculum professional development to support staff. They also underscored the importance of securing more buy-in, as some teachers work against each other by encouraging student behavior that is not acceptable in other classes or allowing their classes to disrupt the whole school. One teacher explained how the same three kids are running in the halls daily, and their teacher either ignores the behavior or yells down the hall, disrupting the other classes. The teacher often is heard saying, "These kids can't learn." and will do nothing to change.

Notably, teachers with 30 years of experience advocated for a more stringent approach to student discipline, while those teachers with fewer years highlighted the importance of showing compassion to students and colleagues. Moreover, it was mentioned that some teachers not fully embracing the curriculum tend to focus excessively on rules and minutiae, overlooking the opportunity to build relationships with students. One participant, a teacher, recommended that coaching should concentrate on classroom management, particularly for new and struggling teachers. The participant noted a need for more emphasis on classroom management or behavior modification in the social-emotional learning (SEL) or trauma-informed care (TIC) professional development sessions, considering it a crucial missing component.

Two participants in both focus groups raised reservations about the specificity of the curriculum training, but they recognized the importance of the debriefing concepts. Their concern was that they did not want trainers or the district to tell them how to teach a class, only what to teach. They stated that training took away their ability to be creative. This prompted a conversation about the importance of promoting teacher collaboration instead of isolating them in the classroom, a topic that engaged the entire group. The group spoke to the need for consistency of policies and methods so the students knew what to expect in every classroom, but not a change in teaching methods.

## Question 6: Is There Value in Teachers Having the Same Experiences?

The significance of students encountering consistent vocabulary and concepts across classes was a focal point of several discussions. Across all focus groups, there was unanimous agreement on how this approach has effectively conveyed crucial messages during crises, providing students with much-needed continuity throughout their day. Participants from all three groups highlighted instances in the curriculum where this practice served as a solid foundation for treatment teams, alleviating stress for staff and students during emergencies and daily activities by fostering predictability. It was unanimously acknowledged that this encourages a stable environment with consistent expectations, ultimately enabling students to thrive. The educators believe this serves the majority of the students who go home to chaotic, unorganized lives, not knowing where they will sleep or who will be there. In each group, it was discussed that students exhibit reduced stress levels when they know what to expect and the associated expectations. There was unanimous accord on these concepts, with no dissenting opinions or queries regarding the intentions behind these statements and discussions; every educator agreed that the students needed a consistent environment with verbalized expectations in order to succeed. A large group of teachers (77%) agreed that having clear expectations from administrators would be beneficial for them as well.

# Question 7: Did the Experiences Have an Impact on Your Personal Life as Well as Your Professional Life?

Attendees shared that they have implemented the principles they learned during the training not only with their children at home but also in their interactions with adults in public. The discussions focused on comments such as, "I've noticed myself becoming more patient with my children." All groups agreed that the de-escalation techniques have proven beneficial in diverse settings, including concerts, grocery stores, and traffic. They highlighted that with consistent practice, these principles become deeply rooted in one's character and manifest in everyday life. Many participants stressed the significance of self-care, acknowledging that prioritizing their well-being is essential for excelling in the classroom. Over 90% of those who found the training effective mentioned that they had integrated the techniques into their daily routines, resulting in a notable transformation in their approach to people in both high-stress situations and routine interactions.

## Question 8: Do You Have Any Other Questions or Feedback About the Social Emotional Learning and Trauma Informed Care Professional Development?

The focus groups yielded a diverse array of responses to the question, with several common themes arising. However, each group presented unique perspectives. The first group underscored the significance of nurturing relationships in the classroom, emphasizing how these connections can positively impact students and teachers. They shared personal anecdotes to illustrate the pivotal role of relational development in student success and teacher well-being. Additionally, the group highlighted the impact of students' behavior, emphasizing that those who feel connected to their instructors are more likely to be motivated and exhibit improved conduct. Furthermore, participants

stressed the importance of empowering students to take charge of their learning. They underscored the need for educators to prioritize relationship-building over fear-based approaches, illustrating how strong connections with students can enhance their support and success.

The second group delved into district policies and procedures, focusing on the necessity of updating policies to align with technological advancements. The discussion spotlighted the inconsistency of phone usage policies across district schools, leading to confusion for educators working with multiple students in different schools. Participants emphasized the importance of the district addressing this issue and providing uniform guidelines for all schools. While one participant suggested restricting phone usage for students who misuse them, a consensus still needs to be reached on this matter. Additionally, one participant raised the question of how students would learn to use phones responsibly if they were not permitted to have them and how this might prepare them for future professional settings. They gave the example of teachers in meetings or professional development not listening to the content and later asking questions. It is important to have the same expectations for yourself as you have for your students.

During the discussion, the third group of participants emphasized the importance of addressing everyone's needs through SEL and TIC. Given the district's work with high-risk students, it was suggested that only students who can benefit from the available services should be included and enrolled in the schools. It was also emphasized that schools may only be the right fit for some students, and the focus should be on those who can thrive in that environment. The educators in this focus group suggested that a number of students be placed in other districts or residential placements. One participant objected

to this notion, stating that our students spend a lifetime being shuffled around, and school should be the one place they find a consistent environment to thrive because we, as educators, know better.

The administrators had a variety of opinions. One pointed out that they enjoyed the discussions and collaboration on student issues rather than policy and other administrative matters, and the majority (93%) of the group agreed. One person disagreed, mocking the wellness activities presented by the coaches each week, suggesting they could be reduced to once a week because it became redundant. Another administrator pointed out that the activities should continue if they helped even one person. Many administrators (65%) did not attend the work sessions with faculty, stating it was a time for teachers to collaborate and not wanting to interfere. In comparison, others (30%) supported promoting wellness in the school by attending every activity and utilizing the curriculum and techniques to drive decision-making in their day-to-day activities.

## **Interview Discussion**

After conducting focus group sessions, individual interviews were conducted to gain deeper insights into the participants' social-emotional learning and trauma-informed care experiences. Two of the participants opted for face-to-face interviews, while 15 chose a virtual format, resulting in 17 volunteers. One additional staff member volunteered; however, she was distracted throughout the interview and had an emergency to attend to. All participants had previously participated in district professional development sessions focused on social-emotional learning, trauma-informed care, and one of the focus group discussions. The interviews were scheduled using Microsoft

Teams. Each participant was asked the same thirteen questions. One participant seemed distracted and not fully engaged, often responding with phrases like "I just don't know" or "It does not apply to my classroom." This person left quickly for a family emergency.

### *Question 1: Please Tell Me Why You Got Into Teaching and What Your Proudest Moment Was as a Teacher*

The vast majority, over 93%, indicated that their passion for learning and dedication to education were the primary driving forces behind their decision to pursue a career in teaching. Financial gain was not a significant factor in their choice to enter the field of education; instead, they were focused on their commitment to supporting students, finding fulfillment in their work, and their love of learning. The most meaningful aspects of their profession were not tied to monetary rewards but rather to the moments of progress in student learning and the positive influence they could have on their students' lives. Trainers and coaches also shared similar reasons for choosing their profession, highlighting the impact of Social Emotional Learning (SEL) or trauma-informed care (TIC) on their students' daily lives. More than 53% of the respondents expressed their desire to make a meaningful difference in their students' lives. The remaining 7% who did not cite a love for learning as their motivation mentioned that they entered teaching because it seemed like a logical career choice or a familiar occupation.

When speaking about their proudest moments as teachers, more than 77% focused on the success of their students who struggled the most. They recognized that more students succeed with the support of educators, and their job is not just to recite facts and curriculum but to foster that success in the students who need it the most.

### Question 2: Please Tell Me About Your Experience with Social Emotional Learning and Trauma Informed Care

During interviews with the staff, it was discovered that all participants had undergone comprehensive professional development in social-emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC), which included their involvement in weekly Wellness Wednesday sessions. However, only 44% of the staff could recall their specific experiences within the district. Additionally, 53% of the staff members shared their experiences prior to joining the district or their experiences with the Department of Education. One interviewee mentioned learning about Dr. Glasser's model in college, specifically targeted at individuals with autism and cognitive impairments. An observation made by over 77% of the interviewees was that SEL and TIC had a positive impact on both student behavior and teachers when recognizing the concepts.

Furthermore, 53% reported that collaboration and professional development had become a valuable way to connect with teachers, often involving actively listening to what is happening in other classrooms over the years. One participant, who is a special education teacher, described their approach to teaching appropriate social and relationship skills to their students through structured lessons and real-time teachable moments. They noted that some students in their cohort have autism and benefit from becoming more self-aware of their behaviors and their impact on others. Other students may exhibit impulsive behaviors due to their ADHD diagnosis, and the teacher has implemented strategies to help reduce those behaviors. Their experiences with trauma have ranged from students who have experienced the loss of a parent or sibling to those who are transitioning without their parent's consent, removed from their homes, and

finally to those who live in unsafe conditions, often resulting in calls to the Division of Protection and Permanency (DCPP).

Only 40% of the respondents discussed district professional development (PD), while 53% mentioned PD outside the district. An additional 10% could not recall attending any SEL or TIC professional development, either within or outside the district. According to attendance sheets and registrations, all interviewees had participated in both SEL and TIC in their schools with a team of trained individuals who were extensively prepared to assist with the cultural shift within their school. One participant mentioned, "I have limited experience with SEL but received training in TIC at a previous job." Their name appeared on a weekly Wellness Wednesday roster, and they volunteered to assist with the weekly activities.

A few participants (3) expressed concerns about feeling supported and mentioned the need for more administrative involvement in professional development sessions. It is important to note that most interviewees demonstrated a clear understanding of SEL and TIC. Many responses mirrored that of a teacher who eagerly shared, "SEL and TIC guide my actions every day at school. I understand that our students come with many different experiences that shape their lives and behavior."

#### Question 3: Could You Tell Me How Trauma Impacts Students and Adults?

The participants expressed a deep understanding of the importance of addressing trauma-informed care (TIC) and social-emotional learning (SEL) for their students. A significant 70% of participants acknowledged the profound impact of trauma on students, with 93% discussing how it affects learning, behaviors, learning loss, and the ability to

process new information. One interviewee remarked, "Trauma can greatly impact our students and adults. It may cause people to be guarded, scared, defensive, and act inappropriately. Our students need us to welcome them, make them feel safe, and help them build trusting relationships with us."

While recognizing the value of supporting students' healing processes to enhance learning outcomes, a small portion of interviewees, 30%, also emphasized the significance of prioritizing their own wellness to serve their students better. The interviewees revealed that training sessions have highlighted the personal traumas that teachers often carry to work every day, requiring attention and healing for their professional and personal growth. Similarly, acknowledging and addressing student behavior-related trauma is crucial for educators' growth and development. More than 65% of the participants expressed that students can overcome their trauma with empathy, patience, and understanding. Many interviewees shared sentiments similar to those of a teacher who stated, "Trauma greatly impacts students in their learning styles and everyday interactions/tasks. Trauma can have a negative impact on students. It does not define a person; it helps explain how and why the person is the way they are."

More than 77% of the interviewees could explain the impact trauma has on students. In comparison, more than 53% admitted they did not know what TIC was, nor had they participated in any professional development addressing trauma. More than 70% of those who stated they did not know what TIC was were able to discuss concepts and agreed that the trauma of students in the district impacted their behavior and learning.

## Question 4: How Do You Utilize Empathy to Create Positive and Trusting Relationships?

During discussions with staff members, it was apparent that over 77% had received social and emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC) training and were utilizing de-escalation techniques with their students. They emphasized the importance of establishing strong connections with students early on to prevent behaviors from escalating. One teacher mentioned that showing empathy allows students to feel understood and validated, irrespective of whether the teacher has experienced similar trauma. However, about 62% of the interviewees recognized the challenges of working with at-risk students who may exhibit destructive or aggressive behaviors. It was observed that some administrators may condone certain behaviors based on TIC and SEL principles, but teachers believe it's essential for students to understand that such behaviors are unacceptable. When de-escalation techniques are ineffective, trainers recommend using non-verbal cues and providing students with the opportunity to talk or visit a calming room. Ultimately, the primary goal for over half of the participants is to understand and address student trauma in a secure and supportive manner to create a safe space.

# Question 5: When Upset With a Student, What Techniques Do You Use to Diffuse The Situation?

The interviewees shared the considerable difficulties they have encountered since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic. Many, 53%, mentioned that addressing the diverse needs of every student has been overwhelming, especially while being constantly available compared to other professionals who can work from home. Interviewees expressed that managing disruptive student behavior can be particularly challenging. To manage these challenges, many participants stated that it is crucial to approach each day with a fresh perspective and avoid dwelling on past negative experiences. Participants stressed the importance of understanding that these incidents are not personal in order to move forward. One interviewee was very sincere in their response, explaining that building a relationship is critical, "99% of what I do in a volatile situation is based on what I have done already. I establish a trustful, positive relationship. When an incident occurs, when negative emotions and memories have been triggered, I rely on the established relationship with the student. If a student needs to leave the room or simply reset, I impart to them the knowledge that they are welcome back when they are ready. I strive never to get upset over a student's behavior, but rather to help the student in that situation."

Regarding professional development, staff members are encouraged to prioritize their well-being by practicing self-care, such as engaging in breathing exercises and taking necessary breaks. While daily wellness messages and reminders are shared, it has been observed that some staff may prefer a reduced frequency of such communications, such as receiving them once a day as a text instead of through email, as the abundance of daily memes and gifs may be overwhelming for some. A few outliers stated that the wellness messages could have been more productive and could be considered a waste of time. One of the administrators said that constant wellness is too challenging to keep up with, becomes meaningless, and cannot be authentic. The coach and trainer had different perspectives, explaining that the wellness messages may relate to other people on various

levels and that improving one person's day is worth reading various messages and emails because you never know what someone is going through.

## Question 6: What is the Connection Between Your Sense of Well-Being and the Educational Experience You Provide Students?

More than 77% of the participants expressed that it is often a gratifying experience for educators to witness their students' progress. Overall, the teachers stated that they are dedicated to nurturing an environment where students can thrive and succeed, which is achieved through active listening and ensuring students feel valued. They expressed that it is imperative for staff to be equipped with the necessary tools to understand the significance of cultivating relationships in the classroom, as it can play a pivotal role in addressing behavioral issues. Teachers recognize their own well-being could be a shortcoming, stating:

"My well-being directly impacts the educational experience I can deliver to my students. When I am run down or feeling overwhelmed, I consistently have more outbursts that result in higher levels of disruption to the overall educational experience for all students."

While not every student will have a dynamic relationship with every teacher, 93% of those interviewed spoke about the importance of establishing strong connections with students. In more than 77% of the interviews, educators consistently emphasized the importance of providing students with opportunities to practice and model these skills in the classroom. The practice includes giving students the chance to write, speak, and present while setting clear expectations and modeling these behaviors. This sentiment

was echoed by teachers, administrators, and support staff alike. One teacher stated, "My sense of well-being is connected to the educational experience I provide in that when I am feeling better about myself, whether it's in my personal life or my professional life, workplace morale plays a role; I feel that I teach more effectively. This [effective teaching] is due to the attitude, vibe, and energy that I give off when I am in a happy place compared to feeling down. When I am excited about my life and like my job, my energy is palpable, and the students benefit from my well-being." 93% of the interviewees made statements similar to one, "My well-being directly influences the classroom. I may be able to leave a personal issue outside of the classroom, but I can't leave not getting enough sleep in the hallway. Teachers model behavior. If I'm distracted and not showing interest in what we're learning, why should the students be interested?"

## Question 7: What Are the Best Strategies for Encouraging Students to Assert Themselves Constructively?

The discussion with participants emphasized that in order to identify strengths and model behavior effectively, teachers often provide students with alternative options, encourage their participation, and involve them in class discussions. However, they said that simply asking students why they have yet to complete an assignment or offering to discuss it later may only be effective within an established relationship. Building this relationship involves offering options when discussing assignments and modeling the activities students are expected to use. Teachers emphasized the importance of giving students choices and avoiding imposing a particular approach. They explained that the professional development stressed the value of collaborative group work but also highlighted the need to provide alternatives for those who prefer working alone or in

smaller groups. Ultimately, they feel it is crucial to demonstrate to all students the significance of active participation and engagement in class. Building relationships and allowing student input into the curriculum and assignments was a common theme among those interviewed. More than 53% discussed student voice and participation. Relationships were discussed in over 93% of the interviews. Having a relationship with all the students was deemed important regardless of the content of the class.

## Question 8: How Do You Respond When Students Are Not Engaged in Classroom Activities?

In our discussion, 93% of the participants emphasized the critical nature of communication. Notably, a participant with 25 years of experience underscored the more significant impact of building relationships over using behavior charts or classroom management strategies. It was reported that the SEL and TIC approach involves effective communication, providing encouragement to students, and knowing when to give them space.

Additionally, 53% of participants highlighted the importance of communication in managing classroom behaviors. Other valuable insights included adapting tasks, supporting students, and employing reset techniques. One participant stressed the significance of wellness techniques for both students and teachers to establish a mutual understanding of classroom expectations. Many interviewees struggled to address the question as they did not recognize that students were not always engaged in classroom activities.

# Question 9: How Do Your Personal Preferences/Biases Affect How You Interact With Your Students?

It is widely reported among the educators interviewed that they do not harbor biases against their students. Initially, forty percent of teachers interviewed did not perceive having biases toward any of their students. One interviewee stated, "They don't. I have been teaching for a long time, so I can teach anyone who wants to learn. Respect goes a long way, so when it's mutual, all the other stuff is pushed aside." However, the remaining sixty percent stressed the importance of acknowledging and treating all students equally without acknowledging their specific biases. The same interviewees claimed that it is essential to raise awareness among staff members about their biases to create a safe environment for students. In response to the question, an interviewee stated, "They do, and it is sometimes difficult. I try to be aware and use my training to remain focused on the purpose of teaching and learning." There were thirty-three percent of interviewees stated that biases may stem from a variety of factors, such as a student's name triggering anxiety due to an experience or racial and gender biases in the classroom. Responses to this issue varied, with thirteen percent of participants citing professional development as beneficial in addressing their biases. Among the thirty-three percent who were conscious of their biases, ninety percent recognized the value of this awareness in moving forward.

One interviewee stated, "They don't; I am here for children; my preferences don't matter till after 4 pm," referring to their biases. While another stated, "They do on every level. I find that, at times, I am more patient than I should be. I should be holding kids more accountable, but I know they have such a terrible life, and I let things go even

though that will not help in the long run." The responses varied widely among the interviewees, and they referred not only to racial biases but also cultural and gender bias, stating, "Positively - I personally am biased with affection towards boys, I am a boy mom, and I tend to have higher numbers of boys in my classes. Negatively - background biases are always underlying, abuse by students for example, and can make me wary; it is important for me to be mindful of this when building relationships." None of the interviewees referenced their own specific racial or cultural biases.

## Question 10: How Did the Professional Development You Attended Help to Make You Feel Supported in the Classroom?

Nearly half of the participants, forty-six percent, expressed feeling unsupported and disconnected from the information presented, making it challenging to incorporate it into their daily teaching. On the other hand, some staff members reported feeling more confident in delivering content and connecting with students due to the provided professional development. One interviewee stated, "It was refreshing to know that things are valued." Many emphasized the importance of administrators fully engaging and participating in ensuring the success of these training sessions rather than merely making an appearance. Teachers, trainers, and support staff discussed that when administrators demonstrate their investment in the material, it encourages staff to do the same. One interviewee claimed, "Attending PD has not changed how I feel supported. I feel that the interactions that I have had with my teachers and supervisors offer the needed support." By offering coaching and support, administrators communicate the value they place on their staff, which can help to create a sense of security and support. Participants noted that administrators play a vital role in promoting social and emotional learning (SEL) and

positive outcomes for students and staff. While accountability remains crucial, the approach should be tailored to foster a culture of support and collaboration. Fifty-three percent of participants stated that the professional development was ineffective and did not help them feel supported. In comparison, seven percent said that the training made them feel more isolated.

One participant emphasized that "the classroom can feel isolating for teachers, as they spend most of the day as the sole adult in the room. Professional development (PD) provides valuable opportunities for teachers to collaborate with their peers and ensures that important topics remain on teachers' radar."

## Question 11: We Have Been Talking About the Students; How Did the Professional Development Experiences Help You Make Decisions in the Classroom?

The participants underscored the vital role of effective communication in handling student-related incidents. They stressed the significance of using consistent language among staff members when interacting with students during tense situations, as it conveys a message of unity. Seventy-three percent acknowledged that professional development had equipped them to de-escalate challenging situations and support students in overcoming difficulties. One interviewee shared, "Attending a professional development session that featured real-life student scenarios allowed me to reconsider my approach based on their trauma. It gave me a broader perspective and made me realize the need to adapt in order to help them succeed." Another highlighted the importance of understanding diverse viewpoints on student behavior and legal implications to manage emotions effectively. Additionally, thirty-three percent emphasized the significance of exploring alternatives to suspension, focusing on prioritizing decisions that benefit the students and promoting social and emotional learning for a more comprehensive approach to support. One individual noted, "Professional development often offers tried and tested solutions, which boosts teachers' confidence in their implementation." Recognizing both staff and students and their achievements was perceived as a valuable intervention. By anticipating reactions in different scenarios and providing appropriate assistance rather than punishing students, there are more successful outcomes, as indicated by over fifty-three percent of the respondents. Finally, fifty-three percent found professional development valuable in introducing new and effective strategies.

One person interviewed shared their thoughts on the PD experiences, stating, "The experiences made me more aware of legal implications and also the overall lack of support for teachers in my role. I feel fortunate that my administration team makes me feel supported in the decisions I make in the classroom, changing lessons, adjusting schedules, modifying workload, or even teaching in alternative spaces." Another individual mentioned, "Several professional development experiences have opened my eyes to more options for handling different circumstances. This [support] allows me to have a more open mind when a problem arises."

Sixty percent of the interviewees spoke positively about the professional development experiences in the district, referring to learning reflection techniques and being able to see different perspectives. Approximately thirty percent of the interviewees requested additional or different professional development, stating, "The PD experiences help me to understand the general ed curriculum and the goals of the district, but I am left

to make my own decisions in my classroom for the most part. I wish there were better curriculum options for special ed."

The remaining thirteen percent of those interviewed expressed indifference towards the training and could not comment either way.

### Question 12: How Did the Professional Development and Coaching Help Your Personal Life?

During interviews, staff members explored various ways to integrate social and emotional learning (SEL) into their personal lives. They discussed seeking support from loved ones, defusing tense public situations, and prioritizing self-care. They emphasized the value of understanding that others face similar challenges to finding comfort in this knowledge. They highlighted how practicing SEL can shape one's character and become a fundamental part of one's identity. Many participants stressed the importance of persisting in trying different approaches to support staff members needing confidence, as these principles foster a secure learning environment for students. A significant number of participants (64%) reported using reset techniques and wellness as coping strategies in challenging situations. One interviewee mentioned the positive impact of incorporating "wellness" time into their professional development day, emphasizing the freedom to dedicate an hour to personal activities. The theme of wellness and recharging was prevalent, as another interviewee expressed the importance of taking time for selfrecharge. Furthermore, one participant acknowledged that the professional development experience helped them recognize the importance of alone time to replenish their energy in order to serve others better. Another participant described the PD experiences as immensely helpful in keeping them grounded and balanced.

#### Question 13: Is There Anything Else You Would Like to Add or Discuss?

In the interviews, nine participants shared valuable insights into incorporating Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) and Trauma-Informed Care (TIC) in their classrooms. They offered specific examples of how they integrated the concept of "reset" school-wide and consistently used the same terminology. Moreover, one of the trainers highlighted that coaching sessions also functioned as counseling sessions for many staff members, providing them with a space to address challenges in their classrooms and personal lives. These sessions often evolved into opportunities to discuss issues unrelated to teaching or working with students, focusing more on personal traumas. One participant shared that they were excited to have these conversations and talk to adults who cared about the students during the day rather than listen to people complain about what was going wrong. The conversations change the outlook on daily activities to a more positive culture.

#### **Overall Themes**

The recurring themes from both the focus group and the one-to-one interviews were remarkably similar. The most prevalent topic was the significance of building relationships with students, parents, and peers. Over 86% of the participants emphasized the importance of these relationships. The topic of vocabulary was featured prominently in every interaction, with more than 93% of the participants acknowledging that the vocabulary from professional development experiences significantly contributes to creating a consistent learning environment for students. The term "reset" was mentioned over 101 times during the interviews and focus groups. All participants in both forums cited reasons related to their commitment to education, with none mentioning money or

notoriety for their professional advancement, and almost all specifically highlighting the students as their reasons to enter and stay in the profession. Teachers emphasized that social and emotional learning (SEL) significantly impacted their students throughout the conversations. The child study team discussed the influence of SEL and Trauma-Informed Care (TIC) on the students' daily lives and said that providing students with a voice has made an impact on the school culture.

Teachers reported that some experiences were more effective for them than others. There were varying reports on the coaching experiences. Many staff enjoyed the one-on-one interactions, while others preferred the collaborative nature of the group experiences. Three teachers explained that they enjoyed the experience more with the Department of Education because there was anonymity when seeking guidance for troubles in their classroom without the fear of it appearing on an evaluation.

Trainers recognized that a substantial amount of time has been devoted to listening to teachers' personal trauma unrelated to their students. They also emphasized the importance of healing and moving forward. While many issues and concerns are personal, addressing them is crucial to enable teachers to move forward and effectively work with students. In a similar vein, the trauma associated with student behavior needs to be acknowledged and actively discussed so that teachers can grow and support their students effectively.

There were noticeable variations in outlook among educators with different levels of experience. Novice teachers might have been unfamiliar with the terms "SEL" and "TIC," but they grasped the concepts during discussions. Newly appointed administrators showed great enthusiasm for the support, particularly embracing coaching and team

meetings as effective means of conveying the district's mission and vision. One administrator noted that this sentiment resonated with the discussions held in faculty meetings. In contrast, administrators with over 20 years of experience were less enthusiastic about the curriculum but did recognize that teachers felt more supported through coaching sessions. Educators and administrators with 5-10 years of experience positively viewed the SEL and TIC professional development, considering it a valuable experience for the entire staff.

#### **Incident Report Data**

In an examination of the incident reports, it was noted that police involvement decreased dramatically from 2018 to 2019 and again from 2019 to 2020. The districtwide SEL and TIC initiative began in schools in 2019 and continued through 2023. In 2022 and 2023, Wellness Wednesdays were implemented. It is important to note that during COVID, there were no in-person classes from March 2020 until September 2020. Participants returned from COVID stating that the students were worse than they had ever been and the mental health issues had increased exponentially. However, the incident reports do not reflect this.

#### Table 2

#### **Classroom Incidents**

	2018	2019*	2020**	2021	2022	2023
Police Involvement	120	55	0	2	4	5
Assault on staff	45	22	0	3	5	3
Assault on students	68	41	0	4	3	2
Threatening Students	120	90	2	10	7	10
Physical Control	52	40	0	3	6	4
Threatening Staff	78	61	1	4	2	3
Total Incidents	483	116	3	26	27	27

#### Limitations

On two professional development days, staff members had the option to work from home if they were registered for professional development opportunities or had a plan approved by their supervisor. The staff had the opportunity to choose to participate in focus groups, with one group meeting in the early morning and one in the afternoon, as well as additional 1:1 interviews. Some may have chosen the focus group because they did not take the time to register for other events. The morning group consisted of staff members who were enthusiastic about the concepts of SEL and TIC. They had an indepth discussion about how these practices had enhanced their teaching methods and how the district could further improve its approach. The last session of the day included a staff member who changed the tone of the focus group by expressing disappointment with the training and stating that it had no value. As a result, this group contributed less than others. However, several staff members from this group later volunteered to participate in 1:1 interviews. It is worth noting that the administrative focus group took place separately from the instructional staff's, although an administrator was present in the third focus group.

Peer pressure was an obvious factor, as observed by facial expressions, body language, and tone of voice. A few of the staff members used a high tone of voice when speaking and looked uncomfortable when called upon. Two individuals did not contribute during the focus group at all but later volunteered for the individual interviews to comment on the SEL and TIC professional development.

Several members of the staff appeared cautious yet cooperative. Despite the focus group being voluntary and the release statement clarifying that it would not affect their employment, the initial ten minutes of the session with the teachers and support staff felt somewhat constrained, with brief responses. However, one of the groups quickly became more engaged, leading to a more natural and participative conversation. The school administrators and coaches were forthcoming right from the start. It's possible that many participants were cooperative due to my role within the organization. As an administrator, I had yet to reveal my stance on professional development before the focus groups and interviews. When questioned about classroom challenges and the impact of professional development on their decision-making, several staff members seemed reluctant to respond.

#### **Chapter V**

#### **Discussion, Conclusions and Recommendations**

#### Rationale

There is a significant need for more research and literature on the impact of social-emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC) on educator resilience and teacher retention. While most studies focus on student perceptions of teacher interpersonal behaviors, this study shifted the focus to teacher perceptions and the impact on their wellness, instruction, and likeliness to continue in the profession. By evaluating educator perceptions about the effects of SEL and TIC on the school climate, school leaders can gain valuable insights that better equip them to build capacity within the school system, fostering a more supportive and resilient educational environment.

While a few studies have touched on the relevance of this topic, there are still significant gaps in the existing research. For instance, Goodwin-Glick (2017) produced a study on the impact of TIC professional development on the knowledge of school personnel. However, it still needs to address how it changed attitude and practice. Similarly, Baker et al. (2016) conducted a quantitative study to evaluate the attitudes of certified school employees on TIC implementation, but it did not address practice or wellness. These gaps highlight the need for this study to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the impact of SEL and TIC on educator resilience and teacher retention.

#### **Research Questions**

The study addressed the following research questions:

- 1. Do employees report that participating in SEL and TIC professional development and other supports improve their knowledge of these concepts?
- 2. Do employees report that their dispositions (empathetic concern, perspective taking, interpersonal relationships) and behaviors improve due to participating in SEL and TIC professional development and support?
- 3. Do educators perceive that there are significant improvements to their classroom climate due to the professional development experiences with SEL and TIC?
- 4. Do educators perceive TIC and SEL support in the school as contributing to teacher retention?

#### **Theoretical Framework**

Two key theoretical theories framed the study: transformational learning and trauma theory. Transformational learning theory, particularly Mezirow's cognitiverational approach, focuses on fostering critical self-reflection among educators to bring about profound changes in their teaching approach and students (Mezirow, 1978, 1991, 2000). This perspective aligns with Freire's emphasis on empowerment in adult education (Gomes, 2022), both sharing a constructivist approach that views knowledge as arising from interpretation and reflection on new experiences (Baumgartner, 2001). As educators navigate challenges like those brought about by the pandemic and encounter trauma (Goodwin-Glick, 2017; Bandura, 1989), perseverance becomes crucial in acquiring new knowledge and skills. Ultimately, a shift in disposition has the potential to reshape educators' understanding of trauma-informed care and social-emotional learning and their practice in the classroom.

#### **Discussion by Research Question**

## Do Employees Report That Participating in SEL and TIC Professional Development and Other Support Improves Their Knowledge of These Concepts?

The focus groups and interviews indicated that the professional development experiences significantly enhanced the participants' understanding of social-emotional learning and trauma-informed care. According to Dorado et al. (2016), the study on the outcomes of implementing the social-emotional learning program "HEARTS" demonstrated substantial improvements and effect sizes in trauma-informed knowledge. This discovery is crucial, as a well-informed and responsive faculty is vital to creating a culture of trauma-informed school districts that prioritize awareness and recognition of trauma symptoms (Craig, 2008; Craig, 2016; Ristuccia, 2013). Utilizing professional development allows for the establishment of a shared vision, mutual understanding, and a common language (Chafouleas et al., 2016). The professional development session attended by instructional faculty focused on recognizing the academic, social, emotional, and behavioral signs of students who have experienced trauma. Participants noted that using a common language has significantly contributed to providing a consistent environment for students and reducing negative behavior issues. This theme was prevalent in focus groups and individual interviews.

In discussions, participants shared their insights about Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) and Trauma-Informed Care (TIC), drawing connections between the

symptoms of trauma and those of other conditions like emotional disturbances or Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. This understanding is crucial for school administrators as implementing trauma-informed practices can reduce the need for special education services (Oehlberg, 2008) and improve the well-being of educators. By equipping staff with the ability to differentiate between trauma-related symptoms and disabilities, misdiagnosis among students can be minimized (Szarkowski & Fogler, 2020). According to White-McMahon and Baker (2016), training in trauma-related professional development (PD) helps all school employees manage challenging behavior in the classroom. Participants noted that the challenges have intensified since students returned to school after the COVID-19 disruptions, but the PD equips them with effective tools to support their students.

A small percentage of individuals (13%) pointed out that wellness activities and social-emotional learning (SEL) seemed to have an unintended impact on staff members. They felt that the abundance of positive interventions made them seem less genuine. One specific administrator mentioned feeling overwhelmed by the daily content and expressed skepticism about the possibility of being consistently positive. This feedback came from a school with a low number of incidents and behavior issues, where a behavior intervention team was not deemed necessary, and the support team spent little time. However, the school did face a chronic absenteeism issue, which the administrator linked to student culture rather than the school environment. It is noted that the school environment could contribute to absenteeism as much as the students' home life. Maurice J. Elias, a professor in the Psychology Department at Rutgers University and director of the Rutgers Social-Emotional Learning Lab, discussed a two-step process for reducing

chronic absenteeism. The first step involves identifying and overcoming barriers to school attendance, and the second step is creating a school environment that encourages student attendance (Harper, 2023). The participants in both the interviews and focus groups noted that school attendance had improved when activities and events were happening at the school that could contribute to a positive school culture. By enriching the school day, the students and staff participate more.

It is important to note that childhood trauma has long-lasting adverse effects on a person's mental and physical well-being. Training in Trauma-Informed Care (TIC) focuses on addressing the outcomes of trauma rather than its root causes. The goal is to enhance resilience, improve education, and empower children (Barnett et al., 2019; Bartlett et al., 2016; Levenson, 2017; Sullivan et al., 2016). The well-being of teachers directly impacts the students that they teach. Research consistently shows that teachers who are more stressed are less likely to form close relationships with students, which can negatively impact student achievement. However, well-being is much more than the absence of illness or stress or even feeling content; it is about teachers flourishing more holistically (Roberts & Kim, 2019). The participants in this study were able to articulate the importance of wellness in their lives to assist students in achieving their goals.

Educators in a trauma-informed school strive to cultivate a safe and supportive environment, taking into account the impact of trauma on learning and behavior (Cole et al., 2013; Plumb et al., 2016; Wolpow et al., 2016). However, school administrators have voiced their concerns about fully grasping these concepts as educators seek their support in gaining a comprehensive understanding of the district's mission and vision. The

administration would appreciate additional training and support from coaches and other sources.

Social-emotional learning (SEL) refers to the process through which students and educators gain and utilize the knowledge, skills, and attitudes necessary to form healthy identities, manage emotions, achieve personal and collective goals, demonstrate empathy, build relationships, and make responsible decisions (SEL Toolkit, 2023). Educators who took part in this study were able to articulate the significance of SEL and its impact on their classrooms on a daily basis. The participants emphasized the importance of building relationships, both in the focus groups and interviews. The professional development equips teachers with a fresh perspective on student behavior. This understanding leads to adjustments in their approach to meet the distinct needs of the students, as they recognize that various factors influence students. Educators can identify behavioral patterns by adopting a trauma-informed mindset when observing students and collaborating with them to support their success. Some educators found applying these concepts to their students and classrooms challenging. They perceived the ideas as abstract and not practical in reality. Consequently, they requested further professional development to implement these concepts effectively.

Many staff members were unaware that the professional development (PD) they were attending had any connection to social and emotional learning (SEL) or traumainformed care (TIC). Though these topics were not mentioned in the title of the PD, attendance twice a year was mandatory, including participation in Wellness Wednesday, a weekly activity for teachers and staff. The staff were unfamiliar with the labels of Social Emotional Learning and Trauma Informed Care. Still, they were familiar with the concepts and viewed them as behavior modification programs or instructional techniques.

Some educators discussed training from prior districts or sessions attended through the Department of Education (DOE). The district has a team called the Champion Team, which claims to collaborate with every school to promote the principles of SEL and TIC.

Despite the dedicated Champion Team at each school, a few staff members (3) still viewed the concept as a behavior modification program specifically for special education students. They did not believe that general education students would benefit from the program, deeming it unnecessary. However, in focus groups, their peers dismissed this perspective and redirected the conversation toward the idea that every student could benefit from building relationships with educators to support them in reaching their educational goals. The more significant majority of educators had a clear understanding of the concepts and could articulate not only the benefits of the programming but also personal experiences where the concepts had positive results in their classroom.

## Do Employees Report That Their Dispositions (Empathetic Concern, Perspective Taking, Interpersonal Relationships) and Behaviors Improve Due to Participating in SEL and TIC Professional Development and Support?

The paragraphs below will explore how SEL and TIC PD are perceived to influence employee dispositions and behaviors. The theoretical framework of trauma theory, dispositions, and transformational learning offers a perspective through which we can comprehend the outcomes related to the second question.

The concept of trauma-informed care involves recognizing the importance of understanding a person's life experiences in order to provide effective care. This approach can potentially enhance student engagement, health outcomes, and the well-being of educators and staff (Hopper, Bassuk, & Olivet, 2010). Demonstrating compassion and empathy is crucial to an educator's effectiveness (Smith & Sharbek, 2013). Perspectivetaking, a key aspect of disposition and attitude, encompasses how individuals perceive others and themselves. Study participants noted that they made efforts to better comprehend students' perspectives before making decisions when dealing with upset students and before offering feedback.

The findings also indicate that participants perceived the professional development to have a minor impact on their own feelings of respect, trust, empathy, care, and interpersonal connections with students. Participants noted a shift towards more student-centered attitudes, including consistently treating students with care and respect and developing enduring connections with students that promote positive interactions in the classroom. Participants also reported taking a personal interest in what students do outside of the classroom and recognizing students for small achievements in the classroom as a positive interaction rather than negative consequences. This recognition of students was reported as a result of being aware of the impact of their traumatic experiences and having empathy for the students.

As per the dispositions theoretical framework, the definition of dispositions encompasses habits of mind (Katz & Raths, 1985; Thornton, 2013), feelings, attitudes, beliefs, and preferences that lead to a tendency to react or behave in a specific manner (Eberly et al., 2007), and are integral components of an effective educator (Wasicski et al., 2004). Habits of mind are more challenging to alter than to maintain due to the reinforcement of current mindsets by past experiences (Cranton, 2002). These habits influence self-perceptions and the interpretation of experiences and instructional

knowledge (Cranton, 2002). The nature of habit implies that the behavior occurs without deliberate thought; instructional behaviors are likely rooted in well-thought-out plans, even if they are perceived as unconscious (Simpson, 2012). This suggests that knowledge is more malleable than beliefs, attitudes, and feelings. Two of the four focus groups indicated that the repetitive nature of positive interactions led to the development of habits. Teachers expressed enthusiasm about the opportunity to practice behaviors, and through continuous practice, these behaviors became inherent to who they were as teachers and individuals.

It is suggested that there may be more potential for change in the trauma-informed attitude rather than in behaviors, as proposed by researchers such as Baker (2016), who argued that attitudes toward trauma-informed care influence behaviors. Educator behavior is influenced by the interconnectedness of knowledge, goals, and attitudes, as outlined by Schoenfield (2011), which can be valuable in shaping professional development practices. Changing attitudes can be a slow process, especially when educators are unaware that change is necessary (Schoenfield, 2011). Administrators should collaborate with educators to provide a safe environment for them to explore their attitudes toward traumatized students, allowing for the opening of their minds to new knowledge and behaviors.

Transformational learning occurs when there is a shift in perspective, belief, attitude, or habit (Merriam, 2007). The outcomes indicate that professional development (PD) had a significant impact on attitudes toward trauma-informed care and socialemotional learning, suggesting that transformational learning occurred. This type of learning probably occurred because the new knowledge presented during the social-

emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC) professional development prompted a critical reflection on the validity of their existing beliefs (Cranton, 2002). This form of learning differs from learning from informational text in that it involves a fundamental change in how individuals perceive themselves and the world around them (Merriam et al., 2007). Brown et al. (2012) acknowledged that gains in knowledge and beliefs do not necessarily lead to a change in behavior. The ultimate goal of the SEL and TIC professional development is to change educators' behaviors to enhance their own well-being and that of their students. Participants reported that it compelled them to reflect on their classroom practices and changed how they perceived and interacted with students on a daily basis.

During the professional development (PD) sessions, participants experienced a transformation in their learning process, leading to a noticeable shift in their attitudes and behaviors in the classroom. The PD sessions specifically impacted their knowledge and understanding of social and emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC) practices. The activities in the PD were intentionally designed to encourage participants to reflect on their preconceived notions about student behavior and learning.

Engaging in critical reflection sometimes prompted emotional responses such as guilt or embarrassment as instructors recognized the disparities between their new insights and their previous beliefs. Previously, many instructors may have held the belief that student behaviors were primarily manipulative and intentional, thus warranting punitive measures rather than empathy and patience.

The PD sessions consistently provided instructors with a fresh perspective on student behavior, fostering more extraordinary patience in the classroom. Embracing a

trauma-informed mindset enabled instructors to understand that student behavior might be rooted in underlying issues and a genuine desire to succeed despite not knowing how.

Instructors were encouraged to adopt a constructive approach to evaluating student behavior and to focus on their strengths rather than weaknesses. Rather than resorting to punitive measures that could potentially retraumatize a student, instructors were urged to teach students the importance of following rules and to hold them accountable through supportive and non-harmful means. They were able to reiterate this during focus groups and interviews by restating the importance of SEL and TIC in schools.

Students previously labeled as lazy, unmotivated, and troublesome may be seen in a new light through a Trauma-Informed Care (TIC) perspective as withdrawn or troubled individuals seeking a safe space (Cole et al., 2013). In interviews and focus groups, participants demonstrated an understanding that, through a TIC lens, all behaviors serve a purpose and convey something that needs to be addressed (White-McMahon & Baker, 2016). Teachers who were previously upset by student behavior appear to have recognized the importance of maintaining objectivity and respect when students exhibit behaviors commonly seen as disrespectful (White-McMahon & Baker, 2016). Given that a majority of students have adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), educators are urged to approach all interactions with sensitivity (SAMSHA, 2023)

Participants found it easier to admit to employing trauma-informed behaviors rather than acknowledging past dispositions that contradicted the nature of the profession. The disposition was especially apparent given the horrifying stories of traumatized youth and their impact on learning. Participants extensively discussed how embracing trauma-

informed approaches has influenced their professional lives in the classroom, as well as their day-to-day lives at home and in public. They noted that even mundane inconveniences, such as traffic, became more tolerable when they adopted a different perspective on human behavior. Taking a breath and moving forward was reported to make a significant difference.

The findings of the study show that professional development (PD) had a positive impact on shaping perceptions regarding the future use of trauma-informed care and social-emotional learning. For instance, interviewees noted that they started prioritizing the establishment of connections with students and their peers. Collaborating with their peers has led to a consistent approach across classrooms, contributing to a positive and secure student environment. Prior to the PD and coaching, participants expressed challenges in transitioning between classes due to varying expectations. The adoption of consistent terminology has aided students in understanding the expectations of each class. Collaboration has also reduced teachers' feelings of isolation in their classrooms, offering them the chance to share effective techniques, express frustrations, and enhance their teaching methods. At the core of the trauma-informed approach is the deliberate use of behaviors to foster physically and psychologically safe environments for both staff and students (SAMHSA, 2023).

The participants noted improvements in positive behavior when engaging with students and staff, including active listening, offering positive reinforcement for good behavior, and showing empathy towards students. They expressed that the professional development and support have been valuable experiences. Additionally, many participants requested further assistance, such as coaching and various professional

development opportunities, to enhance classroom behavioral support and instructional strategies and proactively address potential issues.

Childhood trauma has been shown to have a negative impact on self-regulation skills, physical health, relationships, perceptions of safety, and academic aptitude (Tishelman et al., 2010). A student's sense of safety at school depends on factors such as trust, respect, predictability, caring relationships with adults, and feelings of acceptance and support, all of which have been demonstrated to influence learning, memory, and higher-order thinking (Willis, 2016). Longitudinal studies have indicated that positive student perceptions of safety and care were linked to higher scores on most achievement assessments (Edgerton & McKechnie, 2022). This study demonstrates that Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) and Trauma-Informed Care Professional Development (TIC PD) positively influenced educators' empathy and readiness to support traumatized students. It also enhanced the recognition of the importance of trauma-informed care and behaviors, aiming to enhance students' feelings of safety, trust, respect, and caring relationships in order to promote their success.

Educators' biases may lead to unequal treatment of students and affect their interpersonal connections (Souers & Hall, 2016). The study found that teachers' awareness of their biases can help them address and respect all students equally. Participants recognized the impact of biases and acknowledged that professional development had heightened their awareness of their own biases toward students. In the focus group, some teachers found it challenging to confront their biases, feeling uneasy about the possibility of differential treatment. It was emphasized that creating awareness among staff about their biases is crucial for adjusting behaviors and fostering a safe

environment for all students. Biases can manifest in various ways, from discomfort with a student's name due to personal experiences to more complex issues like racial and gender biases in the classroom.

The "reset " concept was frequently emphasized, highlighting the opportunity to correct mistakes rather than persisting on the wrong path. This idea was considered crucial by students, staff, and resource homes, shaping their interactions with students. It prompted a conversation about establishing a shared vocabulary for de-escalation incidents to ensure consistent communication among staff members and better understanding by students during a crisis situation. Educators mentioned that after professional development sessions, they often offer students alternative options, provide encouragement, and engage them in discussions. They also inquire about reasons for students' struggles in completing tasks or offer the chance to discuss them later. However, it was reiterated that these strategies are most effective when there is a pre-existing relationship with the students. To build this foundation, teachers engage students in conversations about assignments and consistently offer two options as part of their implementation of social and emotional learning (SEL). This approach fosters an understanding that students' behaviors are often not intentional but rather a result of trauma and past experiences.

## Do Educators Perceive That There are Significant Improvements to Their Classroom Climate Due to the Professional Development Experiences With SEL and TIC?

Due to the nature of the students who attend the district's schools, participants felt that the TIC and SEL curriculum was more relevant to their practice than that of a regular school district. The PD was relevant to the daily responsibilities of the educators due to the amount and variety of interactions with students. Participants discussed at length the importance of establishing relationships with students and, in some cases, were able to articulate how they established the relationships through daily communication and positive interactions. A few teachers were able to explain that remaining positive with the students could become frustrating until there were rewards evidenced by a return in conversation or a smile from a student.

It has been evidenced through the lack of incidents at one school that the PD has had an impact on the interactions with students. Participants were reminded that police interactions were once a daily occurrence at the school, and now they have been reduced to an occasional occurrence. The group attributed this to increased training and support from administrators. The constant talk of "reset" allows them to not only give the students grace but grace to one another when they need a break.

The participants discussed how the curriculum has enabled them to handle tense situations in various public settings, such as concerts, grocery stores, and even while driving. Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) equips them with techniques to de-escalate these situations and offers a new perspective, particularly in traffic. Continued practice allows the staff to refine these techniques, making them an integral part of their approach and fostering a more positive mindset. According to Laird (2022), educators must embody social-emotional learning (SEL) to teach it effectively. To truly understand their students and their learning, teachers who interact with students should be introduced to basic information about trauma, its prevalence, and its impact (NCSS, 2021). This includes understanding both their trauma and their students' trauma, as well as what trauma-informed care entails, particularly the disproportionate effects on individuals from

underserved groups and people of color. Teachers must be aware of what they and their students are experiencing in the classroom and society (NCSS, 2021).

Staff members generally believe that the Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) and Trauma-Informed Care (TIC) professional development has equipped them with techniques and skills that allow them to demonstrate more empathy and understanding towards students. They have developed a greater tolerance for student behaviors and have learned how to hold students accountable in more meaningful and constructive ways rather than simply punitive. While some staff members have struggled to implement the techniques, they still see value in the concepts. During the training, some staff used the opportunity to voice their concerns about current policies and procedures. It was evident that a few staff members needed help finding the training relevant to their roles. However, those who fully embraced the concepts have been applying them to various aspects of their lives, resulting in reduced stress and improved ability to handle challenging situations. While challenges in the classroom persist, staff members have found it easier to move forward by holding students accountable and then letting go of the issues.

The educators emphasized their ability to maintain perspective and recalibrate when they encounter frustration with students, administration, or colleagues. They underlined the importance of letting go of unimportant issues and concentrating on success. Understanding their own learning styles and acknowledging any personal trauma allows them to recognize their limitations. According to the participants, SEL and TIC made a difference in behaviors and teachers. Over the last several years, it has been a

way to relate to other teachers. It is often simply listening to what is happening in the classroom and supporting each other's decisions.

The majority of the staff mentioned that they have been utilizing de-escalation techniques introduced during the various Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) and Trauma-Informed Care (TIC) trainings they attended. Many emphasized the importance of practices such as controlled breathing and showing understanding to students within reasonable limits. They highlighted the significance of building strong relationships early on to prevent behaviors from escalating. Teachers candidly discussed the challenges posed by at-risk students, who sometimes exhibit destructive behavior, aggression, and confrontational attitudes, particularly during transitions in their living arrangements. These behaviors create discomfort for the entire classroom, teachers, support staff, and administration. According to the teachers, these students are not always held accountable for their behavior due to administrative leniency based on TIC and SEL principles. They believe that it's crucial for the students to understand that such behaviors are unacceptable. The teachers acknowledged that building longer-term relationships in the same placement can sometimes help address these challenges but also noted that deescalation techniques do not always yield the desired results. Trainers emphasized the use of de-escalation techniques and understanding the students' trauma. They highlighted the utilization of non-verbal cues and avoided mirroring the students' energy.

Additionally, they emphasized the importance of allowing students to express themselves, practicing calm breathing, and providing access to calming spaces. Trainers stress the importance of equipping staff with the tools to recognize that building strong relationships is crucial for success in the classroom and can contribute to managing

behavioral issues. While acknowledging that not every student will connect with every teacher on a deep level, all participants agreed that student-teacher relationships play a pivotal role.

Participants noted that the trainers effectively demonstrated the activities they anticipated the staff to utilize, providing choices without imposing any particular approach. They made an effort to encourage everyone to collaborate and work in teams despite knowing that some individuals disliked it. The trainers also presented alternatives for group work, acknowledging that while some people are not keen on participating in large groups, they are willing to engage in smaller ones. Additionally, the trainers emphasized the importance of involving everyone. The educators recognized the significance of these techniques when they themselves were involved in the process.

The coaching sessions evolved into a platform for collaboration. When teachers voiced their frustrations about school policies and procedures, they were directed to the coaching sessions to address their concerns and work together with their colleagues to find solutions. This collaborative approach enables teachers to feel less isolated and empowers them to tackle their challenges with the support of the entire staff.

# Do Educators Perceive TIC and SEL Support in The School as Contributing to Teacher Retention?

The most meaningful aspects of their profession were not tied to monetary rewards but rather to the moments of progress in student learning and the positive influence they could have on their students' lives. The conversations all revolved around job satisfaction, helping students, and the love of learning. The proudest moments were also not about transactional motivation but centered on breakthroughs with learning and making a difference in students' lives. More than 77% of the participants expressed that it is often a gratifying experience for educators to witness their students' progress, a testament to the positive relationships fostered with them. The trainers and coaches cite the same reasons for getting into the profession. All were teachers who found that SEL made a big difference with their students or Child Study Team that saw what an impact SEL and TIC had on the every day of students. A fundamental purpose of trauma-informed care and social-emotional learning is to provide appropriate support so that students and teachers can become resilient in the face of life stressors. TIC and SEL are whole-school approaches that benefit staff and students (Blaustein, 2013). Li (2023) determined that resilient educators were better equipped to manage work-related stressors, experienced less emotional burnout, greater job satisfaction, and improved personal interactions. The teaching profession is growing in complexity due to additional stressors such as secondary trauma and compassion fatigue felt by educators who interact with traumatized students (SAMSHA, 2023; Cole et al., 2013)

School administrators must prioritize creating a supportive and secure environment for educators, ensuring they feel safe, encouraged, and capable of success to retain talented professionals in the field. Social and emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC) professional development programs play a critical role in establishing a physically and psychologically safe environment that fosters academic success for at-risk students. Exceptional leaders articulate and promote their traumainformed vision, leverage a TIC framework to inform decision-making and actions, and uphold shared values with the school community (Parameswaran et al., 2023). These leaders also empower educators to believe in their ability to support the healing and

growth of traumatized students, demonstrating trust in their capacity to make a positive impact, celebrating small wins, and providing meaningful feedback (Kouzes & Posner, 2012).

Educators must take proactive steps in their school community and fully comprehend their role in creating a trauma-informed school environment. Realizing that their own well-being is as important as their students, in this study, 30% of the educators interviewed prioritized their own wellness. While they possess a firm grasp of the concepts and vision, they are uncertain about the subsequent actions to take. It's crucial for educators to not only have the knowledge but also the confidence to apply traumainformed practices effectively. Providing support and interventions to educators will boost their confidence and motivation to continue their work at the school. Having trauma-informed dispositions allows educators to establish and maintain positive relationships based on respect and trust, as well as create learning environments that promote resilience. These dispositions guide educators' actions and enable them to manage their emotions in challenging situations, de-escalate confrontations, and believe in their capacity to make a difference. Educators have acknowledged the considerable time spent addressing teachers' personal challenges, which may not be directly related to their students. It's crucial for teachers to have the opportunity to heal and move forward. Many of these concerns are personal, but addressing them is essential for teachers to engage effectively with their students.

Similarly, acknowledging and addressing trauma related to student behavior is essential so teachers can support their students' growth. Teachers and administrators recognize the importance of Trauma-Informed Care (TIC) and Social-Emotional

Learning (SEL) for their students. They stress the need to support students in their healing journey so that they can fully participate in the learning process. Some staff members have also highlighted the necessity of prioritizing their own well-being, understanding that being in a positive state of mind equips them better to support their students.

Educators emphasized the significance of empathy and patience in teaching. They stressed the importance of being patient with students to ensure they feel supported and prevent behavioral issues by building solid relationships through active listening. Less experienced teachers were mainly focused on earning respect and acknowledged the need for support in building relationships. Coaches highlighted the need for teachers to actively listen and address specific behaviors and trauma experienced by students and parents. Additionally, teachers expressed frustration with external stakeholders' excessive influence on classroom matters and feeling isolated from their colleagues and administrators.

Educators have expressed the challenges they have faced since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. They have emphasized the overwhelming pressure to meet the diverse needs of all students. They often feel worn out, especially when they see others working remotely while they continue to teach in person. Maintaining a constant state of readiness can be exhausting, and it becomes even more challenging when faced with disruptive behavior from students. They emphasize the importance of starting each day with a fresh perspective and letting go of negative emotions from the previous day. Understanding that it's not personal helps them to return to the classroom the next day with renewed focus. From a training standpoint, educators are encouraged to prioritize

their well-being and engage in wellness practices. Breathing exercises are integrated into training sessions, allowing staff members to participate actively. Additionally, staff are reminded to seek assistance from administrators or colleagues when they need to step away. The training team provides daily wellness messages and encourages staff to prioritize self-care, understanding that these strategies may not resonate with everyone every day. Still, they can be beneficial for some individuals on certain occasions.

The educators emphasized the deep reward of witnessing a student's progress. They emphasized that building solid relationships with students enables the staff to observe and support their growth. Every teacher is dedicated to their student's success and believes that listening to them and making them feel valued are crucial to fostering these relationships. The instructors are committed to equipping the staff with the necessary tools to understand that strong relationships are fundamental to classroom success and can help address behavioral issues. While not every student will form a close bond with every teacher, nurturing student-teacher relationships remains essential.

There is a widespread sentiment among staff members that they need more support and feel isolated when it comes to accessing information and applying it to their day-to-day classroom activities. On the other hand, some staff members have expressed that the professional development (PD) they received has boosted their confidence in handling the subject matter and effectively reaching students. It is imperative for the administration to actively engage in these sessions rather than just making fleeting appearances. Without administrative buy-in, it's difficult for staff to fully commit to and effectively implement the material in their student interactions. Demonstrating a commitment to coaching and supporting staff members signifies their importance and the

need to provide them with sufficient support. Administrators extend their support to both students and staff in social-emotional learning (SEL) and other initiatives. While they are more inclined to hold staff members accountable than students, it is essential to emphasize that SEL and TIC do not eliminate accountability. Instead, the key is to find the most suitable form of accountability for each situation, fostering a greater sense of support among the staff.

The topic of relationships was a recurring theme in both the focus groups and the interviews. Teachers emphasized the significance of student relationships in their wellbeing and academic success. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on students' mental health and well-being has been profound, affecting their behavior and interactions with teachers, leading to decreased attendance and engagement in school. Managing negative behavior in the classroom can be demanding for teachers, resulting in emotional exhaustion and reduced job satisfaction. Social-emotional learning (SEL) has helped educators prioritize these relationships, as the quality of their instruction suffers without them. Research shows that positive work environments enhance student performance. While the structural and classroom processes of SEL quality indicators have been extensively researched, the social-emotional capacity of teachers has only recently been acknowledged as a crucial factor in quality instruction and school climate (Evans et al., 2015; Will, 2022).

### Summary

Participants experienced significant positive increases in disposition and behaviors. Still, they noted a particularly strong growth in their knowledge of traumainformed care and social-emotional learning after attending professional development

experiences and coaching sessions. Interestingly, many participants did not recall attending the workshops and sessions when referred to them by social-emotional learnign and trauma-informed care professional development, but they could recount the content during conversations. The participants who did not recall the experiences had attended workshops and seminars; a few had even volunteered for activities and events on the district "Wellness Wednesday." Prior to the professional development (PD), the participants were not aware of trauma-informed care as a term. However, some had encountered the term or attended workshops in other districts or with the Department of Education. Participants perceived themselves as caring and thoughtful individuals before the PD, and the program simply heightened their awareness of the impact of trauma and the importance of creating a safe environment for students. It is evident that educators require trauma-informed care and social-emotional learning PD to comprehend the impact of trauma on students (Oerhlberg, 2008; Phifer & Hull, 2016). More than 77% of participants acknowledged the impact of trauma on students and were able to discuss the concepts with peers and administrators.

A topic of conversation in focus groups and at least three interviews was that the mental health and behavior issues of the students had increased exponentially. When asked about behaviors, it was stated that the behaviors had increased; administrators acknowledged that the behaviors may have increased slightly, but staff members were reacting to them more positively and getting better results since participating in SEL and TIC experiences. Further, COVID-19 impacted the results for 2020. There were minimal incidents because the students were not in school. While the teachers were remote, the school's student population changed, and the teachers were prepared to return with new

expectations and a new outlook on the student population, as seen in the reduction of incidents in 2021 and 2022.

During interviews following their professional development experiences, participants may have been inclined to demonstrate positive change as the researcher was also the chief school administrator. On two professional development days, staff were given the option to work from home if they had planned professional development during the day; two of the time slots for focus groups were scheduled and included in the available professional development. They were then able to self-select into focus groups. The early morning group was eager to discuss how social and emotional learning (SEL) and trauma-informed care (TIC) had positively influenced their practice. They also shared ideas on how the district could further improve its approach. However, during the last session of the day, one staff member expressed dissatisfaction with the training, impacting the group's dynamics. Despite this, several members from that group volunteered for individual interviews and elaborated on their appreciation of the support and training. In addition, the administrative focus group was conducted separately from the staff focus groups, although there was an administrator present in the third focus group.

One of the most prominent topics that resurfaced with both the focus groups and interviews was the importance of consistent vocabulary throughout the school. The term "reset" was reported as a valuable tool both with the students and in the personal lives of the participants. The participants also spoke about using "I" statements rather than "you" statements to create a positive culture in the school. It was reported that the SEL and TIC PD not only impacted their professional life but made things easier for them in their

personal lives. The participants said they were able to diffuse situations in public and create a more positive relationship with the people around them, forming the relationships that they touted as crucial for the success of their students and themselves in the classroom. The relationships are important in establishing the culture of the school, as teachers are not leaving because of the kids; they are leaving because of the culture established (Gomez-Leal, 2022).

It is important to acknowledge the retirement and resignation of three administrators in one school within three years. There may be a connection between the frequency of intense incidents and the departure of administrators. The administrators resigned during 2018, 2019 and the beginning of 2020. There has been a consistent administrator in the school since 2020. The SEL and TIC coaching sessions have greatly influenced the reduction of incidents at the school, and the current administrator strongly supports these programs.

The professional development (PD) received positive feedback from the participants and is considered a valuable tool for fostering a positive culture within the school district. Fostering a positive culture is crucial for retaining teachers and enabling them to thrive in their chosen profession. The research of De Carvalho, Pinto, and Marôco (2017) stated that most teachers who implemented SEL programs scored higher in self-awareness, awareness of their surroundings, and personal accomplishment than in the comparison group. Similarly, Zinsser, Christensen, and Torres (2016) found that teachers in educational settings with SEL programs reported feeling better supported in handling challenging behaviors and experienced higher job satisfaction, which would retain teachers within the profession. It is essential to offer multiple modes of PD

experiences in order to meet the needs of the faculty, not unlike a teacher would for her students. Teachers thrive in different environments, and conveying the same messages in various formats and experiences is important.

#### Recommendations

#### **District Recommendations**

The findings from the interviews and focus groups clearly indicate the importance of providing support to teachers in the classroom. With teachers spending the majority of their day alone with groups of 6-12 students, it is crucial for them to feel supported during professional development experiences, faculty meetings, and throughout the school day, both by administrators and peers. It is recommended that school administrators actively participate in coaching sessions and other professional development experiences to show their support. Teachers rely on these coaching sessions not only for professional support but also for personal well-being. The coaching sessions, Social-Emotional Learning, and Trauma-Informed Care Professional Development should continue as part of the professional development plan.

Instructors should prioritize providing constructive feedback and highlighting students' strengths rather than their weaknesses. It's crucial for educators to teach students about accountability in a way that avoids punitive measures that could potentially cause further distress. While trauma-informed care is essential, it's not the complete solution. It correctly underscores the specific needs of individuals who have experienced trauma. Positive psychology sheds light on the limitations of solely addressing symptoms and instead focuses on improving the conditions that contribute to overall well-being. Trauma-informed care enables educators to approach trauma with sensitivity to prevent

re-traumatization. The next step would be to establish a healing-centered environment. A healing-centered environment takes a holistic approach, incorporating culture, spirituality, civic action, and collective healing. This approach considers trauma not as an isolated individual experience but as a collective experience of trauma and healing. The concept of healing-centered engagement broadens our understanding of responses to trauma and offers a more holistic approach to promoting well-being (Ginwright, 2018; SAMSHA, 2023). It's important for the district to work towards creating a healing-centered engagement as educators familiarize themselves with trauma-informed care.

#### **Recommendations for the Field of Education**

Many participants expressed the need for additional professional development that focuses more on instructional techniques rather than what they perceive as behavior modification programs. They want to take a proactive approach to manage classroom behaviors rather than just addressing existing issues. The primary motivation for entering the education field was to witness students' success and assist them in becoming productive members of the community. By creating an environment that promotes student success, teachers can also thrive in achieving their professional goals. It has been disheartening for educators to encounter disrespect and behavior issues on a daily basis. Since the onset of the pandemic, educators have reported an increase in mental health issues and behaviors in schools, which they are uncertain how to handle. Providing opportunities for educators to collaborate will enable them to develop solutions and create a safe environment for themselves and their students. Educators need support through PD experiences, coaching, and administrative support. Policies must support a

caring and safe school culture in line with the intended purpose of the professional development programs and include time to collaborate and problem solve.

It's essential to consider that classifying students based on their trauma may perpetuate explicit bias and institutional racism. Educators need to recognize that their implicit and explicit racial biases can affect the health and well-being of students and their families as part of a healing-centered approach. Engaging in reflective practice can help educators acknowledge their biases and understand how they influence students.

Throughout the document and study, it is emphasized that the health and wellbeing of teachers are just as crucial as that of students for overall student success. Educators need to recognize that Social-Emotional Learning (SEL) and Trauma-Informed Care (TIC) are essential not only for their students' well-being but also for their own.

#### **Further Research**

After implementing professional development in Social Emotional Learning (SEL) and Trauma-informed Care (TIC), researchers can gather and analyze data from various schools, considering factors such as size, demographics, and location. The research will aid in measuring educators' perceptions of trauma-related knowledge, attitudes, and dispositions. Furthermore, researchers can compare the effectiveness of trauma-informed care by studying schools that do not have such programs. Long-term studies are also recommended to examine the outcomes over time. Periodically organizing focus groups and interviews to measure further improvements in knowledge and dispositions could provide valuable insights.

The findings from this study indicate that educators recognized a significant improvement in the implementation of SEL and TIC. However, it's important to note that

educators' acknowledgment does not guarantee actual implementation. It is crucial for researchers, school leaders, and students who regularly engage with educators to assess the implementation of trauma-informed behavior and social-emotional learning in the classroom.

Simpson (2012) suggested that researchers explore the impact of educator dispositions on students' standardized test scores and their educational, personal, and social well-being. Educators may believe that they are caring and exhibit trauma-sensitive behavior; however, if a student fails to have a similar perception, the disconnect between the beliefs can negatively impact the relationship. While SEL and TIC are being systematically embedded into the school culture, administrators and researchers should utilize school data to verify the benefits described in the literature, such as a reduction in school bullying, high school dropouts, suspensions, absenteeism, and teacher retention (Oehlberg, 2008).

#### References

- Aldrup, K., Klusmann, U., Lüdtke, O., Göllner, R., & Trautwein, U. (2018). Student misbehavior and teacher well-being: Testing the mediating role of the teacherstudent relationship. *Learning and Instruction*, 58(58), 126-136. 10.1016/j.learninstruc.2018.05.006
- Baker, C.N., Brown, S.M., Wilcox, P.D. Overstreet, S., & Ancora, P. (2016) Development and psychometric evaluation of attitudes related to trauma-informed care (ARTIC) scale. School Mental Health, 8(1), 61-76. doi:10.1007/s12310-015-916-0
- Báez, J. C., Renshaw, K. J., Bachman, L. E. M., Kim, D., Smith, V. D., & Stafford, R. E. (2019). Understanding the Necessity of Trauma-Informed Care in Community Schools: A Mixed Methods Program Evaluation. *Children & Schools*, 41(2), 101-110. 10.1093/cs/cdz007
- Biopsychosocial. (2023). In Merriam-Webster, Incorporated. Retrieved from http://www.merriam-webster.com/medical/biopsychosocial
- Bandura, A. (1989) Regulation of cognitive processes through perceived self-efficacy. Developmental Psychology, 25 (5), 729-735.
- Barnett, E (2019). Developing, implementing, and evaluating a trauma-informed care program within a youth residential treatment center and special needs school April 2018. Residential Treatment for Children & Youth 35(2):95-113. April 2018, 35(2):95-113 DOI:10.1080/0886571X.2018.1455559
- Baumgartner, L (2001). An update on transformational learning. New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education. January 2021.
- Blaustein, M. E. (2013). Childhood trauma and a framework for intervention. In E. Rossen & R. Hull (Eds.), Supporting and educating traumatized students: A guide for school-based professionals (pp. 3-21). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Brunzell, T., Stokes, H., & Waters, L. (2016). Trauma-informed positive education: Using positive psychology to strengthen vulnerable students. Contemporary School Psychology, 20, 63–83
- Chafouleas, S. M., Johnson, A. H., Overstreet, S., & Santos, N. M. (2016). Toward a blueprint for trauma-informed service delivery in schools. School Mental Health, 8, 144–162. Chang, M. (2013). Toward a theoretical model to understand teacher emotions and burnout in the context of student misbehavior: Appraisal, regulation and coping. *Motivation and Emotion*, 37(4), 799–817. 10.1007/s11031-012-9335-0

- Charlton, C. T., Moulton, S., Sabey, C. V., & West, R. (2021). A Systematic Review of the Effects of Schoolwide Intervention Programs on Student and Teacher Perceptions of School Climate. SAGE Publications. 10.1177/1098300720940168
- Chetty, R., Friedman, J. N., & Rockoff, J. E. (2014). Measuring the impacts of teachers II: Teacher value-added and student outcomes in adulthood. American Economic Review, 104(9), 2633-79.
- Cineas, F. (2022). Are Teachers Leaving the Classroom en Masse? <u>www.vox.com</u> Is there a teacher shortage? Teacher shortages explained. <u>Vox</u>.
- Cornelius-White, J. (2007). Learner-centered teacher-student relationships are effective: A meta-analysis. Review of Educational Research, 77, 113–143.
- Craig, S. E. (2016). Trauma-sensitive schools: Learning communities transforming children's lives, K-5. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Creswell, J.W. (2014). Research Design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (4<sup>th</sup> edition) Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Cook- Harvey, C. M. (2018). Educating the Whole Child: Improving School Climate to Support Student Success.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2010). Teacher education and the American future. Journal of teacher education, 61(1-2), 35-47.
- Dorado, J. S., Martinez, M., McArthur, L. E. & Leibovitz, T. (2016) Healthy environments and responses to trauma in schools (HEARTS): A whole school, multi-level prevention and intervention program for creating trauma-informed, safe, and supportive schools. School Mental Health, 8(1), 163-176. doi: 10.1007/s12310-016-9177-0
- Douglass, A., Chickerella, R., & Maroney, M. (2021). Becoming trauma-informed: a case study of early educator professional development and organizational change. *Journal of Early Childhood Teacher Education*, 42(2), 182–202. 10.1080/10901027.2021.1918296
- Duane, A., Casimir, A. E., Mims, L. C., Kaler-Jones, C., & Simmons, D. (2021). Beyond deep breathing: A new vision for equitable, culturally responsive, and traumainformed mindfulness practice. *Middle School Journal*, 52(3), 4-14. 10.1080/00940771.2021.1893593
- Edgerton, E. & McKechnie, J.,(2022). The relationship between student's perceptions of their school environment and academic achievement. Front Psychol. 2022; 13: 959259. Published online 2023 Feb 1. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.959259

- Educator, (2023). In Merriam-Webster, Incorporated. Retrieved from http://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/educator
- Every Student Succeeds Act, 114th Congress of the United States of America. § S. 1177 (2015).
- Freire Institute, (2024), https://freire.org/ Internet source. June 10, 2024.
- Garcia, E. & Weiss, (2020). Covid-19 and student performance. Lessons from pre-pandemic.
- Garcia-Carmona, M., Marin, M.D., & Aguayo, R. (2019). Burnout syndrome in secondary school teachers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Social Psychology of Education: An International Journal, 22 189-208. http://doi.org/10/1080/15377903.2018.1549174
- Glasser, H. (2022). The Nurtured Heart Approach. https://nurturedheartinstitute.com. Retrieved March 15, 2022, from https://nurturedheartinstitute.com
- Glickman, CD, & Tamashiro, RT (1982) A comparison of first-year, fifth-year, and former teachers on efficacy, ego development, and problem-solving. Psychology in the Schools, 19 (1982), pp. 558-562
- Gomes, A. (2022). Paulo Freire: Review of "The Pedagogy of the Oppressed" : 1st Edition, Penguin Random House UK, London, 2017. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *19*(1), 21.10.1186/s12954-022-00605-9
- Gomez-Leal, (2022). Teachers don't leave kids; they leave culture. New Jersey State Bar Foundation. New Brunswick, NJ
- Goodwin-Glick, K. (2017). Impact of trauma-informed care professional development on school personnel perceptions of knowledge, dispositions, and behaviors toward traumatized students.
- Hall, P & Simeral, A (2008) Building Teachers' Capacity for Success: A Collaborative Approach for Coaches and School Leaders. Alexandria, Va: ASCD, 2008. ISBN 9781416607472.
- Harper, A. (2019). Improvements in school culture can increase student attendance. K-12 Dive. https://www.k12dive.com/news/improvements-in-school-culture-can-increase-student-attendance/556812/.
- Ieva, K., & Beasley, J. (2022). Dismantling racism through collaborative consultation: Promoting culturally affirming educator SEL. *Theory into Practice*, 61(2), 236-249. 10.1080/00405841.2022.2036049

- Jackson, C. K. (2018). What do test scores miss? The importance of teacher effects on non-test score outcomes. Journal of Political Economy, 126(5), 2072-2107.
- Jaycox, L. H., Morse, L. K., Tanielian, T., & Stein, B. D. (2006). How schools can help students recover from traumatic experiences: A tool-kit for supporting long-term recovery. Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation.
- Kim, S., Crooks, C. V., Bax, K., & Shokoohi, M. (2021). Impact of Trauma-Informed Training and Mindfulness-Based Social–Emotional Learning Program on Teacher Attitudes and Burnout: A Mixed-Methods Study. *School Mental Health*, 13(1), 55–68. 10.1007/s12310-020-09406-6.
- Kraft. M.A. (2018). Federal efforts to improve teacher quality. In Hess R. & McShane, M. (Editors). Bush-Obama School Reform: Lessons Learned. Harvard Education Press. 69-84.
- Kitzinger, J. (1994) The methodology of focus groups: The importance of interaction between research participants, sociology of health and illness, 16(1), 103-121.
- Kouzes, J., & Posner, B. (2012) The leadership challenge: How to make extraordinary things happen in organizations (5th edition). San Francisco, CA: Jossey- Bass.
- Lawlor, M. S. (2016). Mindfulness and social-emotional learning (SEL): A conceptual framework. In K. Schonert-Reichl & R. Roeser (Eds.), Handbook of mindfulness in education (pp. 65–80). Berlin: Springer.
- Laird, B. (2022). Social Emotional Learning in an Elementary School. Social-Emotional Learning in Out of School Time, www.yahoo.com.
- Li, S., (2023). The effect of teacher self-efficacy, teacher resilience, and emotion regulation on teacher burnout: a mediation model. Frontiers in Psychology 2023; 14: 1185079.Published online 2023 Aug 24. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1185079
- Mader, J. (2015). The panel says teacher prep fails to prepare educators for diverse child trauma. Retrieved from The Hechinger Report: Covering Innovation and Inequality in Education website: http://hechingerreport.org/teacher-prep-fails-to-prepare-educators-for-diversitychild-trauma-panel-says/.
- Mahar, P., Lynch, J., Wathen, J., Tham, E., Berman, S., Doraiswamy, S., & Maina, A. (2008). Disasters and their effects on the population: Key Concepts. Pediatrics in disasters. American Academy of Pediatrics.
- McIntyre, E. M., Baker, C. N., & Overstreet, S. (2019). Evaluating foundational professional development training for trauma-informed approaches in schools. Psychological Services, 16, 95–102.

- Meiklejohn, J., Phillips, C., Freedman, M. L., Grifn, M. L., Biegel, G., Roach, A., et al. (2012). Integrating mindfulness training into K-12 education: Fostering the resilience of teachers and students. Mindfulness, 3, 291–307.
- Mezirow, J. (1978). Perspective transformation. Adult Education, 28(2), 100-110.
- Miller, K., & Flint-Stipp, K. (2019). Preservice Teacher Burnout: Secondary Trauma and Self-Care Issues in Teacher Education. Issues in Teacher Education, 28(2), 28-45.
- NCSS. (2022). National Center for School Safety. Trauma-informed, resilience-oriented schools toolkit. *National Council on Mental Well-being*,
- NCMW. (2022). National Council on Mental Well-being, & National Center for School Safety. Trauma-Informed Resilience Oriented Schools Tool Kit. <u>www.ncmw.com</u>
- Newburger, J. C. & Beckhusen, J. (2022, July 21). Average teachers' earnings declining, lower than similarly educated workers, United States Census Bureau.
- Oberle, E., & Schonert-Reichl, K. A. (2016). Stress contagion in the classroom? The link between classroom teacher burnout and morning cortisol in elementary school students. Social Science & Medicine, 159, 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socsc imed.2016.04.031.
- Oehlberg B. (2008). Why schools need to be trauma-informed. *Trauma and Loss: Research and Interventions*, 8(2), 1–4. Retrieved from http://www.traumainformedcareproject.org/resources/WhySchoolsNeedToBeTrau maInformed(2).pdf.
- Ortiz, R., & Sibinga, E. M. (2017). The role of mindfulness in reducing the adverse effects of childhood stress and trauma. Children (Basel), 4(3), 16.
- Osher, D., Sprague, J., Weissberg, R. P., Axelrod, J., Keenan, S., Kendziora, K., & Zins, J. E. (2008). A comprehensive approach to promoting social, emotional, and academic growth in contemporary schools. In A. Thomas & J. Grimes (Eds.), Best practices in school psychology (Vol. 4, pp. 1263–1278). Bethesda: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Overstreet, S., & Chafouleas, S. M. (2016). Trauma-informed schools: Introduction to the special issue. School Mental Health, 8(1), 1-6. doi: 10.1007/s12310-016-9184-1
- Parmameswaran, U., Molloy, J., & Kuttner, P., (2023). Healing Schools: A Framework for Joining Trauma-Informed Care, Restorative Justice, and Multicultural Education for Whole School Reform. The Urban Review 56(1):1-24. DOI:10.1007/s11256-023-00666-5

- Pas, E. T., Bradshaw, C. P., & Hershfeldt, P. A. (2012). Teacher- and school-level predictors of teacher efficacy and burnout: Identifying potential areas for support. Journal of School Psychology, 50, 129–145.
- Phifer, L. W., & Hull, R. (2016). Helping students heal: Observations of trauma-informed practices in the schools. School Mental Health, 8(1), 201-205. doi: 10.1007/s12310-016-9183-2.
- Purtle, J. (2020). A systematic review of evaluations of trauma-informed organizational interventions that include staff training. Trauma Violence Abuse, 21(4), 725–740.
- Ptacek, J. T., & Pierce, G. R. (2003). Issues in the study of stress and coping in rehabilitation settings. Rehabilitation Psychology. https://doi.org/10.1037/0090-5550.48.2.113.
- Reinbergs, E. J., & Fefer, S. A. (2017). Addressing trauma in schools: Multitiered service delivery options for practitioners. Psychology in the Schools, 55(3), 250–263.
- Saldana, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (3<sup>rd</sup> edition) Thousand Oaks: SAGE.
- SAMHSA. (2023). SAMHSA news: Key terms, 22(2). Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/samhsaNewsLetter/Volume\_22\_Number\_2/trauma\_tip/ke y\_terms.html
- SAMHSA. (2023a). About NCTIC. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/nctic/about
- SAMHSA. (2015b). About NCTSI. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/child-trauma/aboutnctsi
- SAMHSA. (2023c). About us. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/about-us
- SAMHSA. (2023d). Trauma-informed approach and trauma-specific interventions. Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/nctic/trauma-interventions
- Schniedewind, N. (2005). "There ain't no White people here!": The transforming impact of teachers' racial consciousness on students and schools. Equity & Excellence in Education, 38, 280-289. doi: 10.1080/10665680500299668
- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2011). Teacher job satisfaction and motivation to leave the teaching profession: Relations with school context, feeling of belonging, and emotional exhaustion. Teaching and Teacher Education, 27(6), 1029–1038.

Schonert-Reichl, K. A., Oberle, E., Lawlor, M. S., Abbott, D., Thomson, K., Oberlander,

- T. F., & Diamond, A. (2015). Enhancing cognitive and social-emotional development through a simple-to-administer mindfulness-based school program for elementary school children: A randomized controlled trial. Developmental Psychology, 51, 52–66.
- Sourers, K., & Hall, P., (2016) Fostering resilient learners: Strategies for creating a trauma sensitive classroom. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Szarkowski, A. & Fogler, J. (2020) Supporting students with disabilities in trauma-sensitive schools. ASCD. 78 (2).
- Taylor, S. (2021). Trauma-informed care in Schools: A Necessity in the Time of COVID-19. Beyond Behavior. Vol 30(3) 124–134. DOI:10.1177/10742966211020841.
- Tishelman, A.C., Haney, P., Greenwald O'Brien, J., Blaustein, M. E. (2010) A framework for school-based psychological evaluations: Utilizing "trauma lens." Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma, 3(4), 279-302. doi 10.1080/19361521.2010.523062.
- White-McMahon, M., & Baker, P.W. (2016) Better behavior positively! Brain-based strategies and solutions. Lexington, KY: Lulu Publishing.
- Willis, J., (2016). Research-based strategies to ignite student learning. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Wolf, S., Torrente, C., Frisoli, P., Weisenhorn, N., Shivshanker, A., Annan, J., & Aber, J. L. (2015). Preliminary impacts of the "Learning to Read in a Healing Classroom." Intervention on teacher well-being in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. Teaching and Teacher Education. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2015.08.002.

# Appendix A

# **Research Questions**

Question	Data	Analysis
Do employees report that their knowledge of SEL and TIC concepts improved due to participating in SEL and TIC professional development and support?	Interview Focus groups	Conventional content analysis, descriptive reporting
Do employees report that their dispositions (empathetic concern, perspective taking, interpersonal behaviors) and behaviors improve due to participating in SEL and TIC professional development and support?	Interview Focus Group	Conventional content analysis, descriptive reporting
Do employees perceive improvements to their classroom climate due to the professional development experiences with SEL and TIC?	Interview Focus Groups	Conventional content analysis, descriptive reporting

# **Appendix B**

# **Individual Interview Protocol**

Thank you for your involvement in my research. Your participation in the focus group made you an ideal candidate for this study. As previously discussed in the larger group, our district, and organization have invested substantially in social-emotional learning and trauma-informed care. Our teaching staff is encouraged to utilize social and emotional skills, such as reflection and collaboration, during their lessons and as role models within the school community. Throughout this session, I will gain insight into your teaching practices, relationships with students and colleagues, and any concerns you may have. You are welcome to ask me any questions you may have, and if you decide to discontinue, we can halt at any point. Rest assured that your building administrator will not be informed, and your responses will remain anonymous throughout the study.

Question	Does not apply	In the classroom	In your life experiences
Please tell me why you got into teaching and what your proudest moment was at the school.			
Age Range			
Affiliation with the district			
Professional Development sessions attended			
1. Please tell me about your experiences with SEL and TIC.			
2. Could you tell me how trauma impacts students and adults?			

3. What are some of the ways trauma is detected in the classroom?		
4. How do you utilize empathy to create positive and trusting relationships?		
5. When upset with a student, what techniques do you use to diffuse the situation?		
6. What is the connection between your sense of well-being and the educational experience you provide your students?		
<ul><li>7. How do you best support students who experience difficulties outside the classroom?</li><li>8. What about inside the classroom?</li></ul>		
8. What are the best strategies for encouraging students to assert themselves constructively?		
9. How do you respond when students aren't engaged in classroom activities?		
10. How do your personal preferences/biases affect how you interact with your students?		
11. How did the PD		

experiences you attended help to make you feel supported in the classroom?		
12. We have been talking about the students. How do the PD experiences help you make decisions in the classroom?		
13. How did the PD experiences and coaching help your personal life?		

### Appendix C

#### Focus Group Protocol - Teachers/ Coaches

#### **Introductions:**

I would like to express my gratitude for your presence today. As you know, our district and organization have invested significant effort in social-emotional learning and traumainformed care. Our teaching staff is encouraged to exercise social and emotional skills such as reflection and collaboration during lessons and as role models within the school community. A prime example of this is engaging in group discussions to explore diverse perspectives on a given topic. As part of my research study to enhance our organization, I am thrilled to be here today to discuss social-emotional learning and trauma-informed care and how it affects you as educators. During this session, I will learn about your teaching practices, relationships with students and colleagues, and any concerns you may have. You are welcome to ask me any questions you may have, and if you decide to discontinue, we can halt at any point. Rest assured that your building administrator will not be informed, and your responses will remain anonymous throughout the study.

	Does not apply	Coaching	PD group experiences
- What types of experiences have you had related to Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) and Trauma- Informed Care (TIC)?			
How did the PD experiences impact you as a teacher?			
How did the PD			

experiences impact you as a learner?		
What were the most significant takeaways?		
Would you want to continue with the PD experiences? What aspects?		
Is there value in teachers having the same experiences?		
Did the experiences have an impact on your personal life as well as your professional life?		
Do you have any other comments or feedback?		

# **Appendix D**

## **Adult Consent Form**

Title: The Impact of Social-Emotional Learning and Trauma-Informed Care on Teacher Well-Being and Capacity in the Classroom.

# Principal Investigator: Shelley Zion KEY INFORMATION AND CONSENT TO TAKE PART IN A RESEARCH STUDY

## ADULT CONSENT FORM FOR SOCIAL AND BEHAVIORAL RESEARCH

**TITLE OF STUDY:** The Impact of Social-Emotional Learning and Trauma-Informed Care on Teacher Well-Being and Capacity in the Classroom.

#### Principal Investigator: Shelley Zion

You are being asked to take part in a research study. This consent form is part of an informed consent process for a research study, and it will provide key information that will help you decide whether you wish to volunteer for this research study.

Please carefully read the key information provided in questions 1-9 and 14 below. The purpose behind those questions is to provide clear information about the purpose of the study, study-specific information about what will happen in the course of the study, what are the anticipated risks and benefits, and what alternatives are available to you if you do not wish to participate in this research study.

The study team will explain the study to you, and they will answer any questions you might have before volunteering to take part in this study. It is important that you take your time to make your decision. You may take this consent form with you to ask a family member or anyone else before agreeing to participate in the study.

If you have questions at any time during the research study, you should feel free to ask the study team and should expect to be given answers that you completely understand.

After all of your questions have been answered, if you still wish to take part in the study, you will be asked to sign this informed consent form.

You are not giving up any of your legal rights by volunteering for this research study or by signing this consent form.

After all of your questions have been answered, if you still wish to take part in the study, you will be asked to sign this informed consent form.

The Principal Investigator, Shelley Zion, Kelley Michalowski, or another member of the study team will also be asked to sign this informed consent.

# 1. What is the purpose of the study?

This study will explore the impact of SEL and trauma-informed care on the culture and

climate and teacher retention post-pandemic.

# 2. Why have you been asked to take part in this study?

Our intended audience consists of teachers who have participated in professional development programs centered around social-emotional learning and traumainformed care. These educators work within the Department of Children and Families Regional Schools and are inclusive of both male and female teachers, regardless of their background or years of experience.

- 3. What will you be asked to do if you take part in this research study? You will participate in a focus group to discuss the impact of social-emotional learning and trauma-informed care professional development on your professional and personal life experiences.
- 4. Who may take part in this research study? And who may not? Any Department of Children and Families Office of Education instructor may participate in the research study. This study will not exclude any instructor who would like to participate.
- 5. How long will the study take, and where will the research study be conducted? The planned study is set to take place at the Department of Children and Families, Office of Education, located at 50 East State Street in Trenton, NJ 08625. Furthermore, to facilitate convenience and safety, a significant number of interviews are expected to be conducted on the Microsoft TEAMS virtual platform. This will enable teachers to participate in the study without the need for physical travel.
- 6. How many visits may it take to complete the study? Participants are asked to participate in one focus group and one individual interview.
- 7. What are the risks and/or discomforts you might experience if you take part in this study?

You may be exposed to differing opinions in the focus group.

8. Are there any benefits for you if you choose to take part in this research study? Our study may not yield any direct benefits. However, it could help us improve our understanding of professional development in the district and provide better support to teachers. This would ultimately benefit both the district and the teachers.

- 9. What are the alternatives if you do not wish to participate in the study? Your alternative to the focus group is an individual interview or to not participate in the study.
- 10. How many subjects will be enrolled in the study? *There will be 35 subjects enrolled in the study.*
- 11. How will you know if new information is learned that may affect whether you are willing to stay in this research study?

During the study, you will be updated about any new information that may affect whether you are willing to continue participating in the study. You will be contacted if new information is learned that may affect you.

- 12. Will there be any cost to you to take part in this study? There is no cost to participate in the study.
- 13. Will you be paid to take part in this study? You will not be paid to participate in the study.
- 14. Are you providing any identifiable private information as part of this research study?

Your identifiable information will not be used in future research projects or disclosed to anyone outside the research team.

15. How will information about you be kept private or confidential?

All efforts will be made to keep your personal information in your research record confidential, but total confidentiality cannot be guaranteed. Data and consent forms will be kept separately in password-protected files.

16. What will happen if you do not wish to take part in the study or if you later decide not to stay in the study?

Participation in this study is voluntary. You may choose not to participate, or you may change your mind at any time.

If you do not want to enter the study or decide to stop participating, your relationship with the study staff will not change, and you may do so without penalty and without loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled.

You may also withdraw your consent for the use of data already collected about you, but you must do this in writing to *Shelley Zion at Zions@rowan.edu*.

If you decide to withdraw from the study for any reason, you may be asked to participate in one meeting with the Principal Investigator.

#### 17. Who can you call if you have any questions?

If you have any questions about taking part in this study or if you feel you may have suffered a research-related injury, you can call the Principal Investigator:

Shelley Zion Education Leadership 856-Contact Number If you have any questions about your rights as a research subject,

you can call:

Office of Research Compliance (856) 256-4078– Glassboro/CMSRU

#### 18. What are your rights if you decide to take part in this research study?

You have the right to ask questions about any part of the study at any time. You should not sign this form unless you have had a chance to ask questions and have been given answers to all of your questions.

#### AGREEMENT TO PARTICIPATE

I have read the entire information about the research study, research risks, benefits and the alternatives, or it has been read to me, and I believe that I understand what has been discussed.

All of my questions about this form or this study have been answered, and I agree to volunteer to participate in the study.

Subject Name:

Subject Signature:\_\_\_\_\_ Date:\_\_\_\_\_

#### Signature of Investigator/Individual Obtaining Consent:

To the best of my ability, I have explained and discussed the entire contents of the study, including all of the information contained in this consent form. All questions of the research subject and those of his/her parent or legal guardian have been accurately answered.

Investigator/Person Obtaining Consent:\_\_\_\_\_

Signature: \_\_\_\_\_ Date\_\_\_\_\_

FOR NON-ENGLISH SPEAKING SUBJECTS:

Translation of the consent document (either verbal or written) must have prior approval by the IRB. Contact your local IRB office for assistance.

# Appendix E

# **Recruitment Email**

Hello,

I am writing about a volunteer opportunity to participate in a research study titled: The Impact of Social-Emotional Learning and Trauma-Informed Care on Teacher Well-Being and Capacity in the Classroom. This research study investigates the impact of socialemotional learning and trauma-informed care on instructional staff in the DCF Regional Schools. Potential benefits of this important research study include the continuation of current professional development offered and future supports and enhancements.

You may volunteer to participate in this study if you are an instructor in the DCF Regional School district who has participated in social-emotional learning and traumainformed care Professional Development. Your participation will require you to participate in a focus group and interview for approximately. This research study will take place virtually utilizing Microsoft Teams or in person at your school location.

There is no compensation for your participation in this study. Contact Shelley Zion about this research study at <u>zions@rowan.edu</u> or Kelley Michalowski at <u>michal53@students.rowan.edu</u>.

This study has been approved by Rowan University's IRB (Study # Pro 2024-45)

Sincerely,

Kelley Michalowski

# Appendix F

# **Reportable Incidents**

	2018	2019*	2020* *	2021	2022	2023
Police Involvement	120	55	0	2	4	5
Assault on staff	45	22	0	3	5	3
Assault on students	68	41	0	4	3	2
Threatening Students	120	90	2	10	7	10
Physical Control	52	40	0	3	6	4
Threatening Staff	78	61	1	4	2	3

\*The SEL began widespread in the school in 2019 and continued through 2023. In 2022 and 2023, Wellness Wednesdays were implemented.

\*\* During COVID, no in-person classes existed from March 2020 until September 2020.